


Corporate Responsibility
Below we have disclosed our payments 
to governments. All of the payments 
disclosed have been made to national 
governments, either directly or through 
a ministry or department of the national 
government on a cash basis. Payroll taxes 
consist of income tax withheld at source 
and employer and employee social security 
tax. 

2015 2014 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Mozambique
Mining royalty 2,826 3,563 3,860 2,931
IFZ Royalty 1,486 1,868 - -
Payroll taxes 8,551 10,564 9,499 5,842
Withholding taxes 462 422 459 768
Licenses 123 215 77 178
Total 13,448 16,632 13,895 9,719
 
Ireland
Payroll taxes 2,240 2,463 1,966 1,846
Corporation taxes 11 2 9 5
Total 2,251 2,465 1,975 1,851

UK
Payroll taxes 169 162 119 -
Total 169 162 119 -

Total payments to governments 15,868 19,259 15,989 11,570

Kenmare’s Moma Titanium Minerals 
Mine is a major investment in the north of 
Mozambique, which we believe serves as a 
catalyst for further investment and actively 
support the Government of Mozambique in 
promoting investment in the country. 

Kenmare does not give donations or 
contributions to any political party and does 
not tolerate bribery in any shape or form.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 

Principal Activities
The principal activity of Kenmare Resources plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (together, “the Group” or “Kenmare”) 
is the operation and further development of the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine (the “Mine” or “Project”) in Mozambique. 

Business and Strategy Review and Future Developments
A Business and Strategy Review, including likely future developments of the Group, set out on pages 14 to 21, forms part of the 
Directors’ Report and is incorporated by reference. 

Finance Review and Risks and Uncertainties
A Finance Review, including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, set out on pages 35 to 48, forms 
part of the Directors’ Report and is incorporated by reference. 

Risk Exposure
The exposure of the Group to price and credit risk is detailed in the trade and other receivables (Note 17), cash and cash equivalents 
(Note 18), bank loans (Note 23), and trade and other payables (Note 27) notes to the financial statements. The exposure of the Group to 
liquidity risk and cash flow risk is detailed in the capital and liquidity management (Note 28) note. 

Key Performance Indicators 
The Group’s key performance indicators are detailed on pages 20 to 21.

Statement of Results
During 2015, the Group sold 800,400 tonnes of ilmenite, zircon and rutile to customers at a sales value of US$142.6 million (2014: 
US$174.3 million). Cost of sales for the financial year was US$168.1 million (2014: US$173.4 million), resulting in a gross loss of 
US$25.6 million (2014: US$1.0 million profit). 

Other operating costs were US$21.8 million (2014: US$32.4 million), comprising distribution costs for the financial year of US$12.5 
million (2014: US$14.3 million) and freight and demurrage costs of US$3.9 million (2014: US$8.1 million). Administration costs were 
US$1.4 million (2014: US$6.9 million). Total share-based payments for 2015 amounted to a US$0.7 million credit (2014: US$1.3 million 
expense), of which a US$1.2 million credit (2014: US$0.9 million expense) relates to staff at the Mine as a result of share options lapsing 
in the financial year and is included as a production cost of inventories, with the balance of US$0.5 million (2014: US$0.4 million) being 
expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. There were arbitration costs of US$4.0 million (2014: US$3.1 million) during the 
financial year.

There was finance income of US$0.5 million (2014: US$6.3 million), mainly resulting from a fair value adjustment of warrants at the 
statement of financial position date. Loan interest and finance fees were US$37.8 million (2014: US$34.9 million) during the financial 
year. 

There was a foreign exchange gain for the financial year of US$22.7 million (2014: US$24.1 million), mainly as a result of gains on 
the retranslation of the Euro denominated loans and gains on the retranslation of cash deposits. The resultant loss before tax for the 
financial year was US$61.9 million (2014: US$100.7 million). 

As at 31 December 2015, the statement of financial position date, Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited had unused tax losses 
of US$7.4 million (2014: nil). A deferred tax asset was recognised of US$1.3 million as it is anticipated that the losses will be carried 
forward for offset against future profits. This resulted in a tax credit for the financial year of US$1.3 million (2014: US$0.1 million charge), 
resulting in a loss after tax for the financial year of US$60.6 million (2014: US$100.8 million) which has been carried to retained losses.

Additions to property, plant and equipment amounted to US$5.6 million (2014: US$5.2 million). At the financial year end, the Group 
carried out an impairment review of property, plant and equipment. The mine plan is based on the Namalope and Nataka proved 
and probable reserves as set out in the Reserve and Resource table. During 2015, 776 million tonnes of the Nataka orebody were 
reclassified as Reserves. Inclusion of these additional reserves extends the last year of operations from 2033 to 2056. As a result of the 
increase in the life of mine, no impairment provision is required. 

Directors’ Report 
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The Group had total debt of US$341.9 million as at 31 December 2015 (2014: US$337.7 million). During the financial year there were 
additional drawdowns of super senior loans of US$10.0 million (2014: nil), loan interest payments amounting to US$5.7 million (2014: 
interest and principal US$20.0 million), interest accrued of US$32.7 million (2014: US$31.4 million), loan amendment and advisor 
fees incurred of US$17.3 million (2014: US$8.3 million), loan amendment fees amortised of US$3.8 million (2014: US$2.6 million) and 
positive foreign exchange movements of US$19.3 million (2014: US$23.2 million). This resulted in an overall increase in Group debt 
of US$4.2 million (2014: US$17.5 million decrease). Under the April 2015 Amendment the Absa Corporate Facility ceased to be an 
unsecured debt obligation of the Company and was novated as a secured Subordinated Debt obligation of the Project Companies. 

As at 31 December 2015, the Project Companies were in breach of a number of loan covenants. As a result, the loan balances are 
classified as falling due immediately. 

Directors
The Directors who held office at 31 December 2015 were as follows:
S. McTiernan (Chairman) Non-Executive * +
S. Bianchi Non-Executive ∆ * +
M. Carvill Executive
J. Ensall Non-Executive
T. Fitzpatrick Executive
E. Headon Non-Executive ∆ * +
T. Lowrie Non-Executive
T. McCluskey Executive
G. Smith Non-Executive ∆ * +
∆: Member of the Audit Committee chaired by Mr. G. Smith
+: Member of the Remuneration Committee chaired by Ms. E. Headon
*: Member of the Nomination Committee chaired by Mr. S. McTiernan

 
The April 2015 Project Loan Amendment included an undertaking that a Lender Approved Non-Executive Director be appointed. In July 
2015, Mr. J. Ensall was appointed to the Board as Non-Executive Director in satisfaction of this requirement. 

The Articles of Association empower the Board to appoint Directors but also require Directors to retire and submit themselves for re-
election at the first Annual General Meeting following their appointment. Under the Articles of Association, a third of the Board must 
retire annually but may offer themselves for re-election. However, in accordance with the provisions contained in the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, the Board has decided that all Directors should retire annually at the Annual General Meeting and offer themselves 
for re-election. 

Directors are appointed and removed by the shareholders in General Meeting of the Company and may be co-opted by the Board.

Directors’ and Secretary’s Shareholdings and Share Options
The interests of the Directors and Secretary of the Company, their spouses and minor children, in the ordinary share capital of the 
Company, and details of the share options granted in accordance with the rules of the Share Option Scheme, are detailed in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 65. 

Share Option Scheme and Kenmare Incentive Plan
It is the policy of the Company to award share options to certain employees and consultants. In the past share options were awarded 
to Executive Directors but this practice ceased with the introduction of the Kenmare Incentive Plan (“KIP”) in 2014. 

Any offer to grant options will specify the consideration payable on acceptance, the number of shares comprised in the option, and 
the mode of acceptance, together with the latest date for acceptance and for payment of the said consideration. Upon receipt by the 
Board of such acceptance and consideration, the option will be granted and the option certificate delivered. The options generally vest 
over a three year period, in equal annual amounts. At 31 December 2015, there were options in issue that had been granted under the 
share option scheme dated 15 May 1987 to persons (other than Directors and the Secretary) to subscribe for a total of 19,791,667 
million shares, exercisable at an average price of US$0.39 per share. 
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In 2014, the KIP was adopted and an Initial KIP award was made to the Executive Directors resulting in a total of 6,875,622 
performance-based shares being awarded as at 31 December 2014. In 2015, awards of 3,294,553 performance-based shares 
crystalised in favour of the Executive Directors under the 2014 KIP award. These shares will be awarded when the Company is not 
subject to dealing restrictions. 

Going Concern
The Directors have at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have 
or will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. In carrying out their going concern 
assessment the Directors noted, given that the Group is in default of loan facility covenants as outlined in Note 23 resulting in bank 
loans being classified as due within one year, that the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on achieving a 
material deleveraging plan with its lenders and other investors. The Directors note that there are material risks associated with the 
ability to successfully conclude the deleveraging plan but expect that it will be concluded successfully and therefore they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Further details are contained in Note 1 on page 107.

Viability Statement
The Directors have assessed the prospects of the business and its ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due over the next 12 months. 
The Directors concluded, for the reasons outlined below, that one year was an appropriate period for the assessment. 

A Group cash flow forecast (“Group Forecast”) has been prepared by management with best estimates of production, pricing and cost 
assumptions over the period. The cash flow includes the successful execution of the Deleveraging Plan as set out in Note 1. 

Key assumptions upon which the Group Forecast is based include a mine plan covering production using the Namalope reserves as 
set out in the Reserve and Resources table. Production levels for the purpose of the forecast are approximately 1.0 million tonnes of 
ilmenite plus co-products, zircon and rutile, per annum over this period. Assumptions of product sales prices are based on contract 
prices as stipulated in marketing agreements with customers, or where contracts are based on market prices or production is 
not presently contracted, prices are forecast taking into account independent titanium mineral sands expertise and management 
expectations. Operating costs are based on approved budget costs for 2016 taking into account the current running costs of the Mine 
and escalated by 2% per annum thereafter. Capital costs are based on the capital plans and include escalation at 2% per annum. 

Sensitivity analysis is applied to the assumptions above to reflect the potential impact of market prices, demand risks and operating 
and capital cost risks faced by the Group as described in the Risk Review on pages 44 to 48. These risks could affect the level of sales 
and profitability of the Group and the amount of capital required to deliver the required production levels. The forecast assumes a 
revised debt structure as detailed in Note 23 is in place over the period.

As detailed in Note 1 the continued liquidity and going concern of the Group is conditional on, amongst other things, the 
implementation of the Deleveraging Pan. This represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and viability such that they may be unable to realise their assets and discharge their 
liabilities in the normal course of business.

Whilst the Directors expect that the Deleveraging Plan can be implemented and that the Group will then be in a position to continue in 
operation well into the future, the Directors cannot provide assurance over the viability of the Group over a period in excess of the one 
year period applied for the assessment of going concern as documented in Note 1.

Share Capital
As at 31 December 2015, Ordinary Shares accounted for 100% of the total share capital. The Ordinary Shares of €0.06 rank equally 
in all respects and carry no special rights. They carry voting and dividend rights. There are no restrictions on the transfer of the 
Company’s shares or voting rights. There are no restrictions on voting rights.

On 12 October 2015, it was resolved that the Company acquire all of the 48,031,467 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each in the capital of the 
Company in issue by transfer or surrender to the Company otherwise than for valuable consideration in accordance with Section 102(1)
(a) of the Companies Act 2014 and Article 3(ii) of the Articles of Association of the Company and, in accordance with Section 106(1) of 
the Companies Act 2014, cancel such Deferred Shares. 

Directors’ Report 
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The Deferred Shares of €0.25 were created in 1991 by subdividing each existing Ordinary Share of IR25p into one Deferred Share of 
IR20p and one new Ordinary Share of IR5p. The Deferred Shares were non-voting, carried no dividend rights and the Company could 
purchase any or all of these shares at a price not exceeding €0.01 per share for all the deferred shares so purchased or could execute a 
transfer of such shares without making any payment to the holders.

Authority to Allot
The Directors have been given the authority by shareholders to allot shares up to an amount equal to the authorised but unissued share 
capital of the Company. 

Purchase of own shares
On 12 October 2015, the Company acquired all the Deferred Shares in issue otherwise than for valuable consideration in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2014 and the Company’s Articles of Association. 

Substantial Interests
As at 25 April 2016, the Company has been notified of the following shareholdings in excess of 3% of the issued ordinary shares of the 
Company:

No. of Ordinary 
Shares

% of Issued 
Share Capital

Prudential plc	 556,000,189 20%
The Capital Group Companies Inc.	 164,678,932 6%
Majedie Asset Management Ltd 152,518,237 5%
Foord Asset Management (Singapore) Pte. Ltd 114,886,100 4%
Norges Bank (The Central Bank of Norway) 104,566,574 4%
Foord Asset Management Guernsey Ltd 103,326,936 4%
Sanlam Four Investments UK Ltd 94,107,336 3%

Takeover Directive
In the event of a change in control, directly or indirectly, of Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited and Kenmare Moma Processing 
(Mauritius) Limited, both subsidiary undertakings of the Company, the Project Lenders may require payment in full of debt obligations, 
in addition to certain prepayment fees, subject to conditions set out in the financing documents. The financing documents also contain 
provisions that would become effective on a change of control of the Company. The Company’s Share Option Scheme and KIP each 
contain change of control provisions that allow for acceleration of the exercise of options and awards in the event of a change of 
control of the Company. 

Other than as described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 60 to 72, there are no agreements between the Company and 
its Directors or employees providing for pre-determined compensation for loss of office or employment that would occur in the event of 
a bid for the Company, save that certain executives, not being directors, have service contracts that either provide for extended notice 
periods or fixed payments on termination following a change in control of the Company.

Accounting Records
The Directors have employed appropriately qualified accounting personnel and have maintained appropriate accounting systems to 
ensure that adequate accounting records are kept in accordance with Section 281 to 285 of the Companies Act, 2014. The books of 
account are kept at the Company’s office at Chatham House, Chatham Street, Dublin 2.

Powers of the Directors
Under the Articles of Association of the Company, the business of the Company is to be managed by the Directors who may exercise 
all the powers of the Company subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Memorandum and Articles of Association of 
the Company and to any directions given by resolution of a General Meeting not being inconsistent with the Companies Acts and 
the Articles of Association. The Articles further provide that the Directors may make such arrangement as may be thought fit for the 
management of the Company’s affairs including the appointment of such attorneys as they may think fit with such powers, authorities 
and discretions (not to exceed those vested in or exercisable by the Directors under the Articles) and for such period and subject to 
such conditions as they may think fit. 
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Subsidiary Undertakings
The subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2015 are outlined in Note 16 to the financial statements. Each of the 
subsidiary undertakings Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited, Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited and Mozambique 
Minerals Limited operate branches in Mozambique.

Notice of Annual General Meeting and Special Business
Notice of the Annual General Meeting, together with details of special business to be considered at the meeting, is set out in a separate 
circular to be sent to shareholders and will also be available on the Company website www.kenmareresources.com. 

Memorandum and Articles of Association
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association set out the objects and powers of the Company and may be amended by 
shareholders at a General Meeting of the Company.

General Meetings and Shareholders Rights
Under the Articles of Association, the power to manage the business of the Company is generally delegated to the Directors. However, 
the shareholders retain the power to pass resolutions at a General Meeting of the Company which may give directions, not being 
inconsistent with the Companies Acts and the Articles of Association, to the Directors as to the management of the Company.

The Company must hold a General Meeting in each year as its Annual General Meeting, in addition to any other meetings in that year. 
The Annual General Meeting will be held at such time and place as the Directors determine. All General Meetings, other than Annual 
General Meetings, are called Extraordinary General Meetings. The Directors may at any time call an Extraordinary General Meeting. 
Extraordinary General Meetings shall also be convened by the Directors on the requisition of members holding, at the date of the 
requisition, not less than 5% of the paid up capital carrying the right to vote at General Meetings.

No business may be transacted at any General Meeting unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to 
business. Three members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at such meeting constitutes a quorum.

The shareholders have the right to receive notice of a General Meeting. In the case of an Annual General Meeting or of a meeting for 
the passing of a Special Resolution, twenty-one clear days’ notice at the least, and in any other case fourteen clear days’ notice at 
the least, needs to be given in writing in the manner provided for in the Articles to all the members (other than those who, under the 
provisions of the Articles or the conditions of issue of the shares held by them, are not entitled to receive the notice) and to the Auditors 
at the time being of the Company.

The Shareholders also have the right to attend, speak, vote and ask questions at General Meetings. In accordance with Irish company 
law, the Company specifies record dates for general meetings, by which date shareholders must be registered in the Register of 
Members of the Company to be entitled to attend. Record dates are specified in the notes to the Notice of a General Meeting. 
Shareholders may exercise their right to vote some or all of their shares by appointing a proxy or proxies, by electronic means or 
in writing. The requirements for the receipt of valid proxy forms are set out in the notes to the Notice convening the meeting. A 
shareholder, or a group of shareholders, holding at least 3% of the issued share capital of the Company, has the right to put an item 
on the agenda of the AGM or to table a draft resolution for inclusion in the agenda of a General Meeting, subject to certain timing 
requirements presented by the Companies Act and any contrary provision of Irish company law.

All business that is transacted at an Extraordinary General Meeting is deemed special. All business that is transacted at an Annual 
General Meeting is also deemed special, with the exception of declaring a dividend, considering the accounts, statement of financial 
positions and reports of the Directors and Auditors, electing Directors in the place of those retiring, re-appointing retiring Auditors and 
fixing the remuneration of the Auditors.

Voting at any General Meeting is by a show of hands unless a poll is properly demanded. On a show of hands, every member who is 
present in person or by proxy has one vote regardless of the number of shares they hold. On a poll, every member who is present in 
person or by proxy has one vote for each share they hold. A poll may be demanded by the Chairman of the meeting or by at least three 
members having the right to vote at the meeting or by a member or members representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting 
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rights of all the members having the right to vote at the meeting or by a member or members holding shares in the Company conferring 
a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one tenth of the total 
sum paid up on all shares conferring that right.

Deadlines for Exercising Voting Rights
Voting rights at General Meetings of the Company are exercised when the Chairman puts the resolution at issue to the vote of the 
meeting. Where a person is appointed to vote for a shareholder as proxy, the instrument of appointment must be received by the 
Company not less than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the appointed 
proxy proposes to vote, or, in the case of a poll, not less than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for taking the poll.

Secondary Listing
Kenmare Resources plc has a premium listing on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange and has a secondary listing on 
the Main Securities Market of the Irish Stock Exchange. For this reason the Company is not subject to the same on-going listing 
requirements as those which apply to an Irish company with a primary listing on the Irish Stock Exchange including that certain 
transactions require the approval of shareholders. The Company is subject to the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority.

Corporate Governance
The annual Corporate Governance Statement on pages 54 to 72 forms part of the Directors’ Report and is incorporated by reference.

Political Donations
There were no political donations which require disclosure under the Electoral Act 1997 (as amended).

Branches
The Company established and maintains a branch in the United Kingdom. This branch was registered with the UK Companies House 
with registration number FC031738.

Environmental and Employee Matters
Information in relation to environmental and employee matters set forth on pages 22 to 29 forms part of the Directors’ Report and is 
incorporated by reference. 

Events since the financial year end
On 29 April 2015, the Group entered into an amended project loan agreement (“the April 2015 Amendment”) with the Lender Group, 
the details of which are set out in Note 23. A condition of the April 2015 Amendment was a requirement on the Group to deliver a 
deleveraging plan to Lenders, and agree such a plan with Lenders, by 31 January 2016. The Group delivered a deleveraging plan to 
Lenders by the 31 January deadline, but it was not agreed by the Lenders by that deadline, giving rise to an event of default. However, 
the Lenders have continued to work with the Group on the execution of a deleveraging plan, details of which are set out in Note 1 and 
Note 23.

Also after the year end, Kenmare entered into a conditional subscription and relationship agreement with King Ally Holdings Limited 
(“King Ally”), a chemicals trading company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, in respect of a proposed investment by King Ally in 
Kenmare. This proposed investment is in respect of US$100 million and is on the basis that King Ally would be interested in not more 
than 29.9% of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company following the completion of a capital restructuring of the Group.
 
Auditors
The Auditors, Deloitte, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, continue in office in accordance with Section 383(2) of the 
Companies Act 2014.

On behalf of the Board:

M. Carvill Director T. McCluskey Director
29 April 2016
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report together with the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws 
and regulations. 

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company and Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. Under that law the Directors are 
required to prepare Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements 
under IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied, in accordance with the Companies Acts, 2014. In preparing the financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:
•	 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
•	 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	 state that the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
•	 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 

information;
•	 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand 

the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance;
•	 prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume the Group will continue in business.

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events 
and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the 
International Accounting Standards Board’s “Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements”. In virtually all 
circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which correctly explain and record the transactions of 
the Company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union and comply with the Companies Acts 2014 and as regards the consolidated financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation and enable the financial statements to be audited. 

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

In accordance with the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007 and the Transparency Rules of the Central Bank of 
Ireland, the Directors are required to include a management report containing a fair review of the business and a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. The Directors are also required by applicable law and the Listing Rules issued by the 
Irish Stock Exchange and the UK Listing Authority to prepare a Directors’ Report and reports relating to Directors’ remuneration and 
corporate governance.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
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Responsibility statement
Each of the Directors whose names and functions appear on pages 52 and 53 of the Annual Report confirms to the best of such 
person’s knowledge and belief:
•	 the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 

by the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position of the Group and the undertakings included 
in the consolidation taken as a whole, as at that date and its loss for the financial year then ended;

•	 the Company financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position of the Company;

•	 the Business and Strategy Review and Principal Risks and Uncertainties, which are incorporated into the Directors’ Report, include 
a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in 
the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and 

•	 the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board:

M. Carvill Director T. McCluskey Director
29 April 2016
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Opinion on Consolidated Financial Statements of Kenmare Resources plc 
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•	 give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2015 and of 

the Group’s loss for the financial year then ended; and
•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and in particular, with the requirements of 

the Companies Act 2014 and, as regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The financial statements comprise the Group Financial Statements: Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Parent 
Company Financial Statements: Parent Company Statement of Financial Position, Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows, Parent 
Company Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes 1 to 37. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the Group and parent company financial statements is Irish law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European Union.

Emphasis of matter- Going concern and the directors’ assessment of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or 
liquidity of the Group
As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Directors’ statement regarding the appropriateness of the going concern basis 
contained within the Directors’ report on page 90 and the Directors’ statement on the viability of the Group on page 90.

Without modifying our opinion on the financial statements, we draw your attention to Note 1 of the financial statements in relation 
to Going Concern and Note 23 in relation to Bank Loans. In Note 1, the Directors set out their assessment of the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Note 1 outlines that in April 2015 the Group entered into an amended loan agreement with its lenders, the 
details of which are set out in Note 23. The amended loan agreement required that the Group deliver a deleveraging plan, acceptable 
to the lenders, no later than 31 January 2016 to enable it to draw down committed loan facilities. A deleveraging plan was submitted 
but was not approved by lenders by that date. At 31 December 2015, the Group was in breach of its loan covenants, and continues to 
be in breach of loan covenants to date. The Directors note that the Group is currently in discussion with its lenders and potential new 
and existing investors, to agree a deleveraging plan which would result in new equity investment, amendment of loan facilities, debt 
discharge and potentially debt to equity conversion, as disclosed in Note 1.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the successful completion of the deleveraging plan as outlined in 
Note 1 and on the Group achieving its cashflow projections. The deleveraging plan involves multiple counterparties and is subject to a 
number of risks including; the risk that one or more parties may withdraw support for the plan; legal and execution risk and the risk that 
the completion of the plan could be delayed resulting in the Group exhausting available cash resources prior to completion. 

These matters indicate the existence of a material uncertainty relating to the successful execution of the deleveraging plan and which 
may cast doubt on the Groups ability to continue as a going concern and meet its liabilities as they fall due in the normal course 
of business. The Directors expect that the deleveraging plan and the cashflow projections will be achieved and that the Group 
will continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amounts or 
classification of assets and liabilities that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern. 

We have nothing further to draw attention to in relation to:
•	 the Directors’ confirmation on page 44 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, 

including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;
•	 the disclosures on pages 44 to 48 that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated;
•	 the Directors’ statement in Note 1 to the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting in preparing them and their  identification of any material uncertainties to the Group’s ability to continue 
to do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements;

•	 the Directors’ explanation in the viability statement on page 90 as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over 
what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of 
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Kenmare Resources Plc
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We agreed with the Directors’ adoption of the going concern basis of accounting and did not identify any material uncertainties other 
than as noted above. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Emphasis of matter- Realisation of Assets of the Group
Without modifying our opinion on the financial statements we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in Notes 13 
and 16 of the financial statements concerning the realisation of property, plant and equipment of US$835 million included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and investments in and amounts due from subsidiary undertakings of US$559 million 
in the Parent Company’s Statement of Financial Position all of which are dependent on the successful operation of the Mine and the 
realisation of the cashflow forecast assumptions as set out in Note 13. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating 
to the uncertainties concerning the realisation of assets and the ultimate outcome cannot at present be determined. 

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
The assessed risks of material misstatement described below are those that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy, the allocation 
of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team:

Risk of material misstatement How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Going Concern
Going concern was an area of focus due to:
•	 continued weakness in sales prices resulting in negative 

cashflow from operations and;
•	 covenant breaches in Group loan facilities and ongoing 

negotiations to successfully conclude the current deleveraging 
plan.

Refer also to page 57 (Audit Committee Report), pages 44 to 48 
(Principal Risks and Uncertainties), and Notes 1 and 23 to the 
financial statements.

We reviewed board minutes, post year end results, budgets and 
cashflow projections. We focused on the key assumptions in 
relation to sales quantities and pricing together with the timing of 
discharging of liabilities of the Group.

In relation to the current deleveraging plan as summarised in Note 
1, we reviewed correspondence and documentation supporting 
the plan and we also made enquiries of management and their 
advisors and considered the associated risks and the likely timing 
of execution of the plan. 

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group has recognised property, plant and equipment 
assets of US$835 million at 31 December 2015. Management 
undertake an annual impairment review to support the carrying 
value of property, plant and equipment. The recoverable amount 
of the Mine is assessed on its value-in-use. Key assumptions in 
the review relate to the useful life of the mine and the property, 
plant and equipment, the cash flows as set out in the life of mine 
financial model and the discount rate applied to arrive at net 
present value. 

Refer also to page 57 (Audit Committee Report), pages 113 to 
114 (Impairment of Non-Current Assets accounting policy) and 
Note 13 to the financial statements.

We considered the appropriateness of the Group’s impairment 
review for property, plant and equipment and challenged the validity 
of assumptions used therein. Specifically our work included, but 
was not limited to, the following procedures:
•	 benchmarking sales price assumptions against contracted prices 

and available market data;
•	 review of estimated future costs by agreement to approved 

budgets;
•	 agreement of proved and probable reserves to competent valuer 

reports; 
•	 recalculation and benchmarking of discount rate applied with 

involvement of Deloitte valuation specialists; and
•	 confirmed validity of mine extraction and operating licences.

We considered the adequacy of the disclosures in relation to these 
matters and whether they met the requirements of IFRSs.

The description of risks above should be read in conjunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee discussed 
on pages 57 to 59 and in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties on pages 44 to 48. 
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Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and not 
to express an opinion on individual accounts or disclosures. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any 
of the risks described above, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

Our assessment of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions 
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit 
work and in evaluating the results of our work. 
 
We determined materiality for the group to be US$10 million (2014: US$10 million), which is approximately 2% (2014: under 2%) of 
equity. We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of US$500,000 
(2014: US$500,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We 
also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit scope focused on Head Office and two principal subsidiary undertakings operating the mining and processing 
facilities in Mozambique. These two principal subsidiaries account for 100% of the Group’s total revenue and 98% of the Group’s total 
assets.

The subsidiary undertakings were subject to a full scope audit. We determined the materiality level for each component calculated with 
reference to the size of the entity involved.

The Group audit team issues detailed instructions to the component auditor for the Group audit, with specific audit requirements and 
confirmation requests across key areas. Significant audit procedures were performed by the component auditor. The Group audit team 
are actively involved in the performance of, and direction of, all stages of the audit process from planning, execution and reporting to 
enable the Group audit team conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a basis for our opinion on 
the Group financial statements as a whole. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014
Directors’ Report and Corporate Governance Statement
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements and based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit the description in the Corporate Governance Statement of the main features of the internal control 
and risk management systems in relation to the financial reporting process and the information required under Regulation 21(2) (c), (d), 
(f), (h) and (i) of the European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006 (S.I. No.255 of 2006) are consistent 
with the financial statements and have been prepared in accordance with section 1373 Companies Act 2014. Based on our knowledge 
and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material 
misstatements in this information. In our opinion, the information required pursuant to section 1373(2) (a), (b) (e) and (f) Companies Act 
2014 is contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement.

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
•	 We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit;
•	 In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the Financial Statements to be readily and properly 

audited; and
•	 The Parent Company statement of financial position is in agreement with the accounting records.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Kenmare Resources Plc (continued)
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Directors’ remuneration 
Under the United Kingdom Listing Authority Listing Rules (the Listing Rules) we are required to review the six specified elements of 
disclosures in the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration. Under the Companies Act, 2014 we are required 
to report to you if, in our opinion the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not made. We have 
nothing to report arising from our review of these matters.

Corporate Governance Statement
Under the Listing Rules, we are also required to review the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company’s 
compliance with certain provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code. We have nothing to report arising from our review.

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the Annual 
Report is:
•	 materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or
•	 apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of 

performing our audit; or
•	 otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the 
audit and the Directors’ statement that they consider the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable and whether the Annual 
Report appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee which we consider should have been 
disclosed. We confirm that we have not identified any such inconsistencies or misleading statements.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise comply with Companies Act 2014. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; 
and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual 
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Kevin Sheehan
For and on behalf of Deloitte 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
29 April 2016
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Notes  2015  2014

 US$’000  US$’000

Revenue 3 142,583 174,317

Cost of sales  (168,138) (173,366)

Gross (loss)/profit (25,555) 951

Other operating costs 5 (21,780) (32,415)

Impairment loss 13  - (64,762)

Operating loss   (47,335) (96,226)

Finance income 8 543 6,314

Finance costs 9 (37,805) (34,852)

Foreign exchange gain 22,658 24,113

Loss before tax (61,939) (100,651)

Income tax credit/(charge) 10 1,320 (143)

Loss for the financial year and total comprehensive income for the financial year (60,619) (100,794)

Attributable to equity holders (60,619) (100,794)

Cent per share Cent per share

Loss per share: Basic 11 (2.18) (3.62)
Loss per share: Diluted 11 (2.18) (3.62)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 834,961 865,217
Deferred tax asset 14 1,320 -
Other receivables 17 649 1,021

836,930 866,238

Current assets
Inventories 15 46,228 62,452
Trade and other receivables 17 20,268 27,118
Cash and cash equivalents 18 14,352 21,795

80,848 111,365

Total assets 917,778 977,603

Equity 
Capital and reserves attributable to the
Company’s equity holders
Called-up share capital 19 214,941 225,523
Share premium 20 431,380 431,380
Retained losses 21 (175,651) (115,032)
Other reserves 22 32,804  22,896
Total equity 503,474 564,767

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities	
Bank loans 23 - 261,634
Obligations under finance lease 24 264 743
Provisions 25 22,100 21,624

22,364 284,001

Current liabilities
Bank loans 23 341,943 76,040
Obligations under finance lease 24 479 415
Provisions 25 1,714 2,387
Other financial liabilities 26 22 520
Trade and other payables 27 47,782 49,473

391,940 128,835

Total liabilities 414,304 412,836

Total equity and liabilities 917,778 977,603

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

M. Carvill Director T. McCluskey Director
29 April 2016

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2015
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities
Loss for the financial year before tax (61,939) (100,651)
Adjustment for:
Foreign exchange movement (22,658) (24,113)
Share-based payments 5 (674) 1,349
Finance income 8 (45) (184)
Finance costs 9 37,805 34,852
Depreciation 6 35,820 40,850
Impairment loss 13 - 64,762
Decrease in other financial liabilities 26 (498) (5,331)
(Decrease)/increase in provisions 25 (742) 528
Operating cash flow (12,931) 12,062

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 15 16,224 (18,256)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 17 7,222 (7,532)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 27 (1,901) 1,780
Cash from/(used in) operations 8,614 (11,946)

Interest received 8 45 184
Interest paid 23 (5,700) (7,046)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 2,959 (18,808)

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment 13 (5,564) (5,187)

Net cash used in investing activities (5,564) (5,187)

Financing activities
Repayment of borrowings 23 - (13,001)
Decrease in borrowings 23 (7,330) (8,268)
Payment of obligations under finance leases 24 (560) (560)

Net cash used in financing activities (7,890) (21,829)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (10,495) (45,824)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 21,795 67,546
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3,052 73

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18 14,352 21,795

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Called –Up 
Share

Capital Share Premium

Capital 
Conversion

Reserve
Fund

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve 
Fund

 Retained 
Losses

 Share Based 
Payment
 Reserve Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 225,523 431,380 754 - (14,238) 20,793 664,212
Loss for the financial year - - - - (100,794) - (100,794)
Share-based payments - - - - - 1,349 1,349

Balance at 1 January 2015 225,523 431,380 754 - (115,032) 22,142 564,767
Loss for the financial year - - - - (60,619) - (60,619)
Share-based payments - - - - - (674) (674)
Redemption of deferred shares (10,582) - - 10,582 - - -
Balance at 31 December 2015  214,941  431,380  754  10,582  (175,651)  21,468  503,474

Retained Losses
Retained losses comprise accumulated profit and losses in the current and prior financial years.

Share-Based Payment Reserve 
The share-based payment reserve arises on the grant of share options and shares to certain Directors, employees and consultants 
under the share option scheme and under the Kenmare Incentive Plan.

Capital Conversion Reserve Fund 
The capital conversion reserve fund arose from the re-nominalisation of the Company’s share capital from Irish Punts to Euro. 

Capital Redemption Reserve Fund
The Deferred Shares of €0.25 were created in 1991 by subdividing each existing Ordinary Share of IR25p into one Deferred Share of 
IR20p and one new Ordinary Share of IR5p. The Deferred Shares were non-voting, carried no dividend rights, and the Company had 
the right to purchase any or all of these shares at a price not exceeding €0.01 per share for all the deferred shares so purchased or 
could execute a transfer of such shares without making any payment to the holders.

On 12 October 2015, it was resolved that the Company acquire all of the 48,031,467 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each in the capital of the 
Company in issue by transfer or surrender to the Company otherwise than for valuable consideration in accordance with Section 102(1)
(a) of the Companies Act 2014 and Article 3(ii) of the Articles of Association of the Company and, in accordance with Section 106(1) of 
the Companies Act 2014, cancel such Deferred Shares. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in and amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 16 558,541 643,840

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 17 173 169
Cash and cash equivalents 18 99 195

272 364

Total assets 558,813 644,204

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to the 
Company’s equity holders
Called-up share capital 19 214,941 225,523
Share premium 20 431,380 431,380
Retained losses 21 (123,596) (60,277)
Other reserves 22 32,804 22,896
Total equity 555,529 619,522

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 23 - 19,399
Provisions 25 - -

- 19,399

Current liabilities
Provisions 25 1,444 2,107
Other financial liabilities 26 22 520
Trade and other payables 27 1,818 2,656

3,284 5,283

Total liabilities 3,284 24,682

Total equity and liabilities 558,813 644,204

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

M. Carvill Director T. McCluskey Director
29 April 2016

Parent Company Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2015
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities
Loss for the financial year before tax 31 (63,319) (3,330)
Adjustment for:
Foreign exchange movement (66) (35)
Share-based payments 5 580 441
Finance cost 23 1,441 2,313
Decrease in other financial liabilities 26 (498) (5,331)
Increase in provision for amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 16 60,619 -
(Decrease)/increase in provisions 25 (629) 10

Operating cash flow (1,872) (5,932)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 17 (4) 125
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 27 (839) 1,552
Cash used in operations (2,715) (4,255)

Interest paid 23 (1,458) (2,308)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,173) (6,563)

Investing activities
Investments in and amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 16 4,044 6,560

Net cash used in investing activities 4,044 6,560

Net cash from financing activities - -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (129) (3)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 195 214
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 33 (16)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18 99 195

Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Called-
Up Share 

Capital Share Premium

Capital 
Conversion 

Reserve Fund

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve 
Fund Retained Losses

Share Based 
Payments 

Reserve Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 225,523 431,380 754 - (56,947) 20,793 621,503

Loss for the financial year - - - - (3,330) - (3,330)

Share based payments  -  -  -  -  -  1,349  1,349

Balance at 1 January 2015 225,523 431,380 754 - (60,277) 22,142 619,522

Loss for the financial year - - - - (63,319) - (63,319)

Share based payments  -  -  -  -  -  (674)  (674)

Redemption of deferred shares (10,582) - - 10,582 - - -

Balance at 31 December 2015 214,941 431,380 754 10,582 (123,596) 21,468 555,529

Retained Losses
Retained losses comprise accumulated profit and losses in the current and prior financial years.

Share-Based Payments Reserve 
The share-based payments reserve arises on the grant of share options and shares to certain Directors, employees and consultants 
under the share option scheme and under the Kenmare Incentive Plan.

Capital Conversion Reserve Fund 
The capital conversion reserve fund arose from the re-nominalisation of the Company’s share capital from Irish Punts to Euro. 

Capital Redemption Reserve Fund
The Deferred Shares of €0.25 were created in 1991 by subdividing each existing Ordinary Share of IR25p into one Deferred Share of 
IR20p and one new Ordinary Share of IR5p. The Deferred Shares were non-voting, carried no dividend rights, and the Company had 
the right to purchase any or all of these shares at a price not exceeding €0.01 per share for all the deferred shares so purchased or 
could execute a transfer of such shares without making any payment to the holders.

On 12 October 2015, it was resolved that the Company acquire all of the 48,031,467 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each in the capital of the 
Company in issue by transfer or surrender to the Company otherwise than for valuable consideration in accordance with Section 102(1)
(a) of the Companies Act 2014 and Article 3(ii) of the Articles of Association of the Company and, in accordance with Section 106(1) of 
the Companies Act 2014, cancel such Deferred Shares. 

Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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1. GOING CONCERN
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out 
in the Operational Review. The financial position of the Group at the financial year end, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing 
facilities are described in the Finance and Risk Review.

On 29 April 2015, the Group entered into an amended project loan agreement (“the April 2015 Amendment”) with its lenders 
(“Lenders”), the details of which are set out in Note 23. A condition of the April 2015 Amendment was a requirement on the Group to 
deliver to, and agree with, Lenders a material deleveraging plan (“Deleveraging Plan”) by 31 January 2016, failing which an event of 
default would ensue. A Deleveraging Plan was delivered to Lenders by this deadline, but was not agreed with Lenders by this deadline. 
To date, a Deleveraging Plan has not been agreed by Lenders. However, significant progress has now been made and the Lenders 
continue to work with the Group on satisfaction of the pre-conditions necessary for the implementation of a deleveraging plan. 

The current Deleveraging Plan includes the following key elements (together “the Capital Restructuring”):
(i) A US$100 million placing of new ordinary shares with a sovereign wealth fund of the Sultanate of Oman (“SGRF”) and a US$100 

million placing of new ordinary shares with King Ally Holdings Limited (“King Ally”) (in aggregate US$200 million) (“the Cornerstone 
Placing”) and an additional firm placing, at the same issue price (“Issue Price”) as the Cornerstone Placing, of not less than 
US$75 million (“Firm Placing”) for which participation commitments will be sought from a number of new and existing institutional 
shareholders; 

(ii) Application of US$200 million of the proceeds of the Cornerstone Placing and Firm Placing to repay US$200 million of debt, the 
discharge of an additional US$50 million of debt at no additional cost, together with the discharge of certain interest accruing on 
project loans (excluding the Super Senior Facility) from 25 November, 2015 until the receipt of Lender approvals, with the balance of 
the net proceeds (after expenses of the issue and of the Capital Restructuring) of the Cornerstone Placing and Firm Placing being 
retained by the Company for working capital purposes;

(iii) An open offer (“Open Offer”) to existing shareholders to subscribe for new ordinary shares on the same terms as under the 
Cornerstone Placing and Firm Placing. The maximum size of the Open Offer will be such as to enable the discharge of all remaining 
outstanding indebtedness in the event of full subscription under the Open Offer on the basis that for every US$3 raised under the 
Open Offer US$4 of debt obligations are extinguished;

(iv) To the extent that subscriptions under the Open Offer are insufficient to reduce outstanding indebtedness to US$100 million, the 
amount of debt in excess of US$100 million will be equitized at the Issue Price.

The net effect of these arrangements will be that the amount of debt remaining outstanding following the completion of the Capital 
Restructuring will not be more than US$100 million and (depending on the level of subscription for new ordinary shares under the Open 
Offer) could be less.

The Deleveraging Plan is a complex initiative with multiple counterparties. It remains subject to significant third party, internal and 
external risks. Moreover any commitment from SGRF and/or King Ally, if made, will be subject to a number of key conditions, including, 
inter alia, their being respectively satisfied with the form and content of a pathfinder prospectus to be prepared by Kenmare, that an 
agreement with Lenders is entered into and reflects the envisaged debt restructuring, and that not less than in aggregate US$275 
million is raised by way of an equity issue, as well as conventional conditions for an equity issue of this nature. The Lenders have not 
yet agreed to the Deleveraging Plan.

In addition, the Capital Restructuring will require publication of a prospectus and convening of an extraordinary general meeting, at 
which approval of a number of resolutions (expected to include ordinary resolutions, special resolutions and resolutions on which only 
certain independent shareholders can vote) will be required. 

There is a risk that one or more of these steps may not be completed or satisfied and the Deleveraging Plan may not be implemented. 
In summary, these risks include the possibility that one or more of the key stakeholders may withdraw from the transaction, that 
execution of the transaction may be unable to be completed for the documentary, approval or other reasons and that the Company 
may not have the necessary funding or other resources to complete the transaction in case of delays.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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1. GOING CONCERN (continued)
If it becomes likely that any key element of the Deleveraging Plan, or any condition required for its implementation, is not completed 
or satisfied, the Directors would immediately seek to agree and implement an alternative deleveraging plan that was acceptable 
to all relevant stakeholders, however there is no guarantee that an alternative plan could be agreed or implemented within the 
timeframes dictated by the limited remaining liquidity reserves of the Group. If the Deleveraging Plan does not proceed and absent 
support and additional funds from the Lenders, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group would not have adequate resources 
for the foreseeable future and the Group may be required to initiate a wind-down of some or all of its operations and/or appropriate 
proceedings in relevant jurisdictions.

On the basis that the Deleveraging Plan is successfully achieved as outlined above, the Group’s financial footing and ability to 
continue in operation would be significantly strengthened. The Group’s financial forecasts and projections for the next twelve months 
indicate that the Group would then be able to meet its obligations as they fall due, however, this assessment is sensitive to a number 
of downside risks such as any further significant deterioration in product prices, any significant disruption to the Group’s production 
revenue stream due to operational or other factors, and the crystallisation of other risks such as those described in the Principal Risk 
and Uncertainties, particularly if such downside risks were to materialise in combination. 

The Group Forecast for the next twelve months is based on a mine plan covering production using the Namalope and Nataka proved 
and probable reserves as set out in the Reserve and Resources table. Production levels over the life of mine for the purpose of the 
forecast are approximately 1.0 million tonnes per annum of ilmenite plus co-products, zircon and rutile. Assumptions of product sales 
prices are based on contract prices as stipulated in marketing agreements with customers, or where contracts are based on market 
prices or production is not presently contracted, prices are forecast taking into account independent titanium mineral sands expertise 
and management expectations. Operating costs are based on approved budget costs for 2016 taking into account the current running 
costs of the Mine. Capital costs are based on the capital budget for 2016 taking into account revisions to this plan and scheduling of 
outlay over the next twelve months.

The Directors recognise that the combination of the circumstances described above represents a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly the auditors have included an emphasis of this matter in their report. 
Nevertheless, the Directors expect that the Deleveraging Plan will obtain all of the necessary approvals and consents as set out above 
and the Directors therefore have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to successfully navigate the present uncertainties 
and continue in operation. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and no break-up 
adjustments have been made.

2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
GROUP
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are set out below.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current financial year. Their adoption has not 
had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may impact the accounting for future transactions 
and arrangements:
•	 IFRS 1 (amendment) First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for accounting periods beginning on 

or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IFRS 2 (amendment) Share-based Payment (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IFRS 3( amendments) Business Combinations (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IFRS 8 (amendment) Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IFRS 13 (amendments) Fair Value Measurements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IAS 16 (amendment) Property, Plant and Equipment (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IAS 19 (amendment) Employee Benefits (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IAS 24 (amendment) Related Party Disclosures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IAS 38 (amendment) Intangible Assets (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)
•	 IAS 40 (amendment) Investment Property (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in 
these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective: 
•	 IFRS 5 (amendment) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (effective for accounting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016) 
•	 IFRS 7 (amendment) Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
•	 IFRS 10 (amendments) Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IFRS 11 (amendment) Joint Arrangements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) 
•	 IFRS 12 (amendment) Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
•	 IFRS 16 Leases (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)
•	 IAS 1 (amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IAS 7 (amendments) Statement of cash flows (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017)
•	 IAS 12 (amendments) Income taxes (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017)
•	 IAS 16 (amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IAS 19 (amendment) Employee Benefits (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) 
•	 IAS 27 (amendment) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016) 
•	 IAS 28 (amendments) Investments in Associates (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IAS 34 (amendment) Interim Financial Reporting (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IAS 38 (amendment) Intangible Assets (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)
•	 IAS 41 (amendment) Agriculture (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016)

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards and Interpretations listed above will have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in future periods. 

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial 
statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the European Union and therefore the Group financial 
statements comply with Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Companies 
Acts 2014.

Going concern
The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have 
adequate resources or will have to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Further details are contained in Note 1 on page 107. 

Basis of accounting 
The financial statements are prepared in US Dollars under the historical cost convention except for share-based payments and 
warrants. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets. Fair value of share 
options at grant date is recognised over the vesting period. As warrants are not issued in the entity’s reporting currency, they do not 
meet the requirements in IAS 32 of settlement in a fixed amount of the value of equity, and therefore are recorded at fair value. As a 
result warrants are re-measured at each reporting date and the increase or decrease in the fair value is recognised as a finance cost or 
income in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each financial year. Control is achieved where the Company: has the power over the investee; 
is exposed, or has the right, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases 
to control the subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the 
Group are eliminated on consolidation.
 
Changes in the Group’s interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets, less liabilities of the subsidiary. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, when applicable, the costs on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

Determination of ore reserve estimates
The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by a Competent Person as defined in 
accordance with the Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserve of 2012 (the 
“JORC Code”). Reserves determined in this way are used in the calculation of depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges, the 
assessment of life of mine and for forecasting the timing of the payment of close-down costs, restoration costs and clean-up costs. 
In assessing the life of a mine for accounting purposes, mineral resources are only taken into account where there is a high degree of 
confidence of economic extraction. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves, and assumptions that are 
valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices of 
final products, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and may ultimately result in the reserves 
being restated.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured as the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for mineral 
products provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and related sales taxes. Sales of mineral products are recognised 
when mineral products have been delivered. Typically, delivery takes place when product is loaded on the customer’s vessel, with most 
sales being made on either a “free on board” (“FOB”), “cost, insurance and freight” (“CIF”), or a “cost and freight” (“CFR”) basis. For 
FOB sales the customer is responsible for the cost of shipping and handling. For CIF and CFR sales amounts billed to customers in 
respect of shipping and handling are classed as sales revenue where the Group is responsible for shipping and handling. All shipping 
and handling costs incurred by the Group are recognised as operating costs. If the Group is acting solely as an agent, amounts billed to 
customers are offset against the relevant costs. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Finance income represents deposit interest earned and the decrease in the fair value of warrants as noted in financial liabilities. Deposit 
interest is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount. 

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases
Assets held under finance lease are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to directly achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 
directly against income unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with 
the Group’s policy on borrowing costs. 

Operating leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

Foreign currency
The individual financial statements of each Group entity are prepared in its functional currency which in each case is US Dollars. The 
presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements is also US Dollars.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are 
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each statement of financial position date, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at rates prevailing on such statement of financial position date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income for the financial year.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the financial year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other financial 
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using the tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
statement of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against deductible temporary 
differences which can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiary undertakings, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is released. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and tax liabilities on a net basis. 

Operating Profit/Loss
Operating profit or loss is stated after charging all costs arising from continuing operations, other than those permitted to be 
capitalised, but before finance income, finance costs, foreign exchange gain or loss and taxation.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and 
the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged to the statement 
of comprehensive income as incurred except where the existence of a commercially viable mineral deposit has been established. 
Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure considered to be tangible is recognised as a component of property, plant and 
equipment at cost less impairment charges. As the asset is not available for use, it is not depreciated. All capitalised exploration 
evaluation expenditure is monitored for indications of impairment. To the extent that capitalised expenditure is not expected to be 
recovered it is charged to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment
The cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price except for plant that was revalued prior to the date of transition 
to IFRS (2005), any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management and the estimated closure costs associated with the asset. 

Construction in progress expenditures for the construction and commissioning of property, plant and equipment are deferred until the 
facilities are operational, at which point the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated at the applicable 
rates.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful life on a straight line basis, or over the remaining life of the Mine if 
shorter, or on a unit of production basis. The major categories of property, plant and equipment are depreciated as follows:

Plant & Equipment Units of production basis
Development Expenditure Units of production basis

Other Assets
Buildings & Airstrip 20 years
Mobile Equipment 3 to 5 years
Fixtures & Equipment 3 to 10 years

Units of production depreciation is calculated using the quantity of heavy mineral concentrate extracted from the Mine for processing 
or sterilised in the period as a percentage of the total quantity of heavy mineral concentrate planned to be extracted in current and 
future periods based on the mining reserve. The mining reserve is updated on an annual basis for results of drilling programmes carried 
out, mining activity during the year, and other relevant considerations. The unit of production depreciation rate is adjusted as a result of 
this update and applied prospectively. 

Capital spares consist of critical plant spares with estimated useful lives greater than one year and are included in property, plant and 
equipment. Capital spares are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. Changes to the 
estimated residual values or useful lives are accounted for prospectively.

Development expenditure
Mineral exploration and project development costs, including finance costs and lender and advisor fees for a mine during the period 
before such mine is capable of operating at production levels in the manner intended by management are deferred and included in 
property, plant and equipment. In addition, expenses including depreciation net of revenue earned during commissioning the mine in 
the period before it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management are deferred. These costs include an allocation of 
costs, including share-based payments, as determined by management and incurred by Group companies. Interest on borrowings 
relating to the mine construction and development projects are capitalised until the point when the activities that enable the mine to 
operate in its intended manner are complete. Once the mine is operating in the manner intended by management, the related costs are 
written off over the life of the estimated ore reserve of such mine on a unit of production basis. Where the mine project is terminated or 
impairment in value has occurred, related costs are written off immediately.

Impairment of non-current assets
At each statement of financial position date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets including construction in 
progress to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does 
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior financial years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately. 

Inventories
Product inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour costs and 
overheads, including depreciation incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using 
the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and 
costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Quantities are assessed primarily through surveys and assays.

Consumable spares are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and 
comprises the purchase price and related costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities in respect of financial instruments are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes party to a contract relating to such instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. 

The warrants, which are not listed or admitted to trading and which have limited transferability rights, have an exercise price, 
denominated in a currency not being the Company’s or Group’s functional currency, of Stg29.09p and Stg11p, and an exercise period 
of five years commencing 16 November 2014 and seven years commencing 16 November 2014 respectively. As the warrants are 
not issued in the entity’s reporting currency, they do not meet the IAS 32 requirements of settlement in a fixed amount of the value of 
equity, and therefore are recorded at fair value. As a result, the warrants are re-measured at each reporting date and the increase or 
decrease in the fair value is recognised as a finance cost or income in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the bank 
borrowings, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between 
the proceeds and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the payables, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

Equity instruments 
Share capital issued by the Company is recorded at the value of proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. The only equity 
instruments of the Group are ordinary shares. 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration to settle the present obligation at the statement of 
financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using 
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable 
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

Mine closure provision
The mine closure provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Group’s liability for close-down, dismantling and restoration 
of the mining and processing site, but excluding reclamation of areas disturbed by mining activities, which is covered under the mine 
rehabilitation provision. A corresponding amount equal to the provision is recognised as part of property, plant and equipment and 
depreciated over its estimated useful life. The costs are estimated on the basis of a formal closure plan and are subject to regular 
review. The mine closure provision is determined as the net present value based on a risk free rate of such estimated costs. Changes 
in the estimated timing or costs are recorded by an adjustment to the provision and corresponding adjustment to property, plant and 
equipment. The unwinding of the discount on the mine closure provision is recognised as a finance cost and capitalised if eligible.

Mine rehabilitation provision
The mine rehabilitation provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Company’s liability for reclaiming areas disturbed by 
mining activities. Reclamation costs are recognised in each period in the statement of comprehensive income based on the area 
disturbed in such period. 

Legal provision
The legal provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Company’s liability for costs associated with a defamation case and 
further actions taken by a former Director. 

Executive Director bonus provision
Prior to 2014 there was an Annual Bonus Scheme for the Executive Directors in place. The key feature of the scheme was the payment 
of a bonus earned for target performance which is deferred for three years.

In 2014, the Kenmare Incentive Plan (“KIP”) was adopted. Annual awards under the KIP have a cash element and a separate share 
element. Both the cash element and the share element are based on a number of in-year performance targets. Based on the level of 
achievement against these targets, the cash element will be paid shortly after the end of the relevant year. The share element will vest, 
subject to certain vesting conditions, after a further three years with part of the shares subject to a further two year holding period. 

Share-based payments
The Group issues share options to certain employees and consultants. In the past share options were awarded to Executive Directors 
but this practice ceased with the introduction of the Kenmare Incentive Plan in 2014. Share options are measured at fair value at the 
date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. Fair value 
is measured using a Black-Scholes pricing model. Share options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings of the Company 
are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income of the subsidiary undertaking and as a capital contribution in 
the statement of financial position. Where a share-based payment is directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, its fair value 
is added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. The policy described 
above is applied to all equity-settled share-based payments granted after 7 November 2002 that vested after 1 January 2005.
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In 2014, the KIP was adopted and an Initial KIP award was made. Annual awards under the KIP have a cash element and a share 
element. Both the cash element and the share element are based on a number of in-year performance targets. Based on the level of 
achievement against these targets, the cash element is paid in the year following the relevant performance year. The share element will 
vest, subject to certain vesting conditions, after a further three years with part of the shares subject to a further two year holding period. 
The value of the shares is measured as fair value at the date of grant, based on the Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually 
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. The fair value at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. Fair value is measured using a Monte Carlo pricing model.

PARENT COMPANY
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2014. As permitted by the Act, the 
separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out for the Group financial statements except as noted below.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are recognised at cost. Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are initially recognised at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is evidence that the asset is impaired. 

The Company is party to guarantees on Group borrowings. These are treated as insurance contracts and accounted for as such. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 
In the process of applying the Group’s and Company’s accounting policies, which are described above, the Directors have made the 
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those 
involving estimations, which are dealt with below). Details in relation to the Directors’ assessment of the appropriateness of the going 
concern basis of preparation of the financial statements is set out in Note 1.

Property, plant and equipment 
The recovery of property, plant and equipment is dependent upon the successful operation of the Mine; the realisation of cash flow 
forecast assumptions as set out in Note 13 would result in the recovery of such amounts. 

During the financial year the Group carried out an impairment review of property, plant and equipment. The cash generating unit for the 
purpose of impairment testing is the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine. The basis on which the recoverable amount of the Moma Titanium 
Minerals Mine is assessed is its value-in-use. The cash flow forecast employed for the value-in-use computation is from a life-of-mine 
financial model. The recoverable amount obtained from the financial model represents the present value of the future pre-tax, pre-
finance cash flows discounted at 10%. 

Key assumptions include the following:
•	 A mine plan based on the Namalope and Nataka proved and probable reserves as set out in the Reserve and Resources table. During 

2015, 776 million tonnes of resources at the Nataka orebody were reclassified as Reserves. Inclusion of these additional reserves 
extends the last year of operations from 2033 to 2056. The life of mine assumption has changed from the prior year end review to 
include reserves and resources. Specific resource material is only included where there is a high degree of confidence in its economic 
extraction. 

•	 Average annual production is approximately 1.0 million tonnes of ilmenite plus co-products, zircon and rutile over the life of the mine. 
This assumption has remained unchanged from the prior financial year end review. 

•	 Product sales prices are based on contract prices as stipulated in marketing agreements with customers, or where contracts are 
based on market prices or production is not presently contracted, prices are forecast by Kenmare taking into account independent 
titanium mineral sands expertise and management expectations including general inflation of 2% per annum. Average forecast 
product sales prices have remained relatively unchanged over the life of mine from the prior financial year end review. 

•	 Operating costs are based on approved budget costs for 2016 taking into account the current running costs of the mine, adjusted for 
forecast cost savings and escalated by 2% per annum thereafter.

•	 Capital costs are based on a life of mine capital plan considering inflation at 2% per annum from 2017. 
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As a result of the increase in the life of mine no impairment provision is required. The impairment loss of US$64.8 million which was 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 2014 is not reversed as the low product sale prices and market 
conditions which resulted in this impairment are still existent.

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
The recovery of investments in and amounts due from subsidiary undertakings is dependent upon the successful operations of the 
Mine; the realisation of cash flows forecast assumptions as set out in Note 13 would result in the recovery of such amounts. 

The Directors are satisfied that, at the statement of financial position date, the recoverable amount of investments in and amounts due 
from subsidiary undertakings exceeds its carrying amount and that based on planned mine production levels, the Mine will achieve 
positive cash flows. An impairment provision of US$60.6 million (2014: nil) has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income, in respect of investments in and amounts due from subsidiary undertakings.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
for assets and liabilities as at the statement of financial position date. The nature of estimation means the actual outcomes could differ 
from those estimates. The main areas subject to estimation uncertainty are detailed below.

Provisions
The mine closure provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Group’s liability for closedown, dismantling and restoration 
of the mining and processing site, but excluding reclamation of areas disturbed by mining activities, which is covered under the mine 
rehabilitation provision. The costs are estimated on the basis of a formal closure plan and are subject to regular review. The mine 
closure provision is estimated based on the net present value at the risk free rate of estimated future mine closure costs. Mine closure 
costs are a normal consequence of mining, and the majority of such costs are incurred at the end of the life of mine. 

The mine rehabilitation provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Group’s liability for reclaiming areas disturbed by 
mining activities. Reclamation costs are recognised in each period based on the area disturbed in the period and an estimated cost of 
rehabilitation per hectare which is reviewed regularly against actual rehabilitation cost per hectare. Actual rehabilitation expenditure is 
incurred approximately twelve months after the area has been disturbed. 

The legal provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Company’s liability for costs associated with a defamation case and 
further legal actions taken by a former director. In estimating the provision the Directors have sought legal advice on costs. 

Unit of production depreciation and amortisation
Unit of production depreciation is calculated using the quantity of heavy minerals extracted from the Mine for processing or sterilised 
in the period as a percentage of the total quantity of heavy minerals planned to be extracted in current and future periods based on the 
mining reserve. 

The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by a Competent Person as defined in 
accordance with the Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserve of 2012 
(the “JORC Code”). There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves, and assumptions that are valid at the time 
of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices of final products, 
production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and may ultimately result in the reserves being 
restated.

Share-based payments
The Group issues share options to certain employees and consultants. In the past share options were awarded to Executive Directors 
but this practice ceased with the introduction of the Kenmare Incentive Plan in 2014. Share options are measured at fair value at the 
date of grant. Fair value is measured using a Black-Scholes pricing model. Assumptions included in this model include: expected 
volatility, as determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous year, as this is deemed the 
most reliable indicator of the Company’s share price volatility; a risk-free rate; and expected life of seven years. 
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2. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The Group has made share awards to Directors under the Kenmare Incentive Plan. The value of these shares is measured as fair value 
at the date of grant. Fair value is measured using a Monte Carlo pricing model. Assumptions made in this model include: expected 
volatility of the Company’s share price, as determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the 
historic period immediately prior to the date of grant and commensurate with the expected life of the awards; comparator group 
constituents and indices, their individual volatilities calculated using total shareholder return data for each company over a period 
commensurate with the expected life of the award; dividend yield; expected life of the awards of three years; risk-free rates; and 
correlation between comparators.

Deferred tax
A deferred tax asset has been recognised where previous tax losses can be utilised to reduce taxes on future taxable profits and 
it is considered probable that a portion of such losses can be applied before expiry. Future taxable profits are based on cash flow 
projections using a life of mine financial model for the Mine. Key assumptions in the cash flow projections include a mine production 
schedule based on the Namalope and Nataka proved and probable reserves. Average annual production levels over the life of the mine 
are approximately 1.0 million tonnes of ilmenite plus co-products, zircon and rutile. Product sales prices are based on contract prices 
as stipulated in marketing agreements with customers, or where contracts are based on market prices or production is not presently 
contracted, prices are forecast taking into account independent titanium mineral sands expertise and management expectations 
including general inflation at 2% per annum. Operating costs are based on approved budget costs for 2016 and escalated by 2% per 
annum thereafter and capital costs are based on a life of mine capital plan considering inflation at 2% per annum. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced if and to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the asset to be recovered.

Financial liability
On 16 October 2013, 250,300,000 new ordinary shares were issued by way of a placing. In addition to ordinary shares, participants in 
the placing were issued warrants on the basis of one warrant to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company for every five placing 
shares. In total 50,060,000 warrants were issued. The warrants, which are not listed or admitted to trading and which have limited 
transferability rights, have an exercise price of Stg29.09p and an exercise period of five years, commencing 16 November 2014. 

On 1 September 2014, the Company issued 7,257,850 warrants to Absa Bank Limited (“Absa”) in discharge of the US$800,000 
extension fee due to Absa as part of a loan amendment. These warrants have an exercise price of Stg11p, an exercise period of seven 
years from 16 November 2014 and are otherwise on substantially the same terms as the warrants detailed above. 

The warrants are measured at fair value at the statement of financial position date. Fair value is measured using a Black-Scholes pricing 
model. Assumptions included in this model include: expected volatility, as determined by calculating the historical volatility of the 
Company’s share price over the previous year, this being deemed the most reliable indicator of the Company’s share price volatility; a 
risk-free rate; and an expected life of six to seven years. 
 
Inventories
Product inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour costs and 
overheads, including depreciation incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using 
the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and 
costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Net realisable value is determined with respect to forecast prices estimated 
to be achieved for finished products. There is no guarantee that these prices will be achieved in the future, particularly in weak product 
markets. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015 (continued)



119Directors’ Report & Financial Statements

3. REVENUE 
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Sale of mineral products 142,583 174,317

During the financial year, the Group sold 800,400 tonnes (2014: 800,000) of finished products ilmenite, rutile and zircon to customers at 
a sales value of US$142.6 million (2014: US$174.3 million).
 

4. SEGMENT REPORTING
Information on the operations of the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine in Mozambique is reported to the Board for the purposes of 
resources allocation and assessment of segment performance. Information regarding the Group’s operating segment is reported below.
 
Segment revenues and results

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Moma Titanium Minerals Mine
Revenue 142,583 174,317
Cost of sales (168,138) (173,366)
Gross (loss)/profit (25,555) 951
Other operating costs (20,529) (26,099)
Segment operating loss (46,084) (25,148)
Other corporate operating costs (1,251) (6,316)

Group operating loss (47,335) (31,464)

Impairment loss - (64,762)
Finance income 543 6,314
Finance expenses (37,805) (34,852)
Foreign exchange gain 22,658 24,113
Loss before tax (61,939) (100,651)
Income tax credit/(charge) 1,320 (143)
Loss for the financial year (60,619) (100,794)
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Segment assets
Moma Titanium Minerals Mine assets 905,795  956,437
Corporate assets 11,983 21,166
Total assets 917,778 977,603

Segment liabilities
Moma Titanium Minerals Mine liabilities 409,500 386,441
Corporate liabilities 4,804 26,395
Total liabilities 414,304 412,836

Other segment information
Depreciation and amortisation
Moma Titanium Minerals Mine 35,805 40,830
Corporate 15  20
Total 35,820 40,850

Additions to non-current assets
Moma Titanium Minerals Mine 5,564 5,187
Corporate - -
Total 5,564 5,187

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue from major products
Mineral products (ilmenite, zircon and rutile) 142,583 174,317

Geographical information
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue from external customers
Europe 49,653 62,337
Asia 43,691 50,380
USA 40,230 42,513
Rest of World 9,009 19,087
Total 142,583 174,317

The Group’s revenue from external customers is generated by the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine, the non-current assets of which are 
US$836.9 million (2014: US$866.2 million).

Cost of sales for the financial year amounted to US$168.1 million (2014: US$173.4 million), including depreciation and amortisation of 
US$30.8 million (2014: US$36.1 million).

Information about major customers
Included in revenues are US$39.9 million (2014: US$44.2 million) from sales to the Group’s largest customer, US$23.2 million (2014: 
US$30.2 million) from sales to the Group’s second largest customer, and US$20.5 million (2014: US$25.2 million) from sales to the 
Group’s third largest customer. All revenues are generated by the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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5. OTHER OPERATING COSTS 
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Distribution costs 12,504 14,250
Freight and demurrage costs 3,856 8,091
Administration costs 1,449 6,945
Arbitration costs 3,971 3,129

21,780 32,415

Included in administration costs are:
Share-based payments 580 441

Distribution costs of US$12.5 million (2014: US$14.3 million) represents the cost of running the Mine’s finished product storage, jetty 
and marine fleet. Included in distribution costs is depreciation of US$5.0 million (2014: US$4.9 million). Freight costs of US$3.7 million 
(2014: US$8.2 million) are reimbursable by customers or factored into the sales price for product delivered to customers on a CIF or 
CFR basis. Demurrage costs were US$0.1 million (2014: US$0.1 million write-back) during the financial year. Administration costs of 
US$1.4 million (2014: US$6.9 million) are the group administration costs and include a share-based payment of US$0.5 million (2014: 
US$0.4 million). There were arbitration costs incurred in the financial year of US$4.0 million (2014: US$3.1 million). 

Total share-based payments for 2015 amounted to a credit of US$0.7 million (2014: US$1.3 million expense) of which a US$1.2 million 
credit (2014: US$0.9 million expense) relates to staff at the Mine as a result of share options lapsing in the year and is included as an 
offset to production cost of inventories, and an expense of US$0.5 million (2014: US$0.4 million) is included in administration costs in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 

6. LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
The loss for the financial year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) items detailed below. Depreciation and amortisation and 
staff costs noted below have been included in cost of sales for the financial year or inventory at 31 December 2015.

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Staff costs 43,609 57,461
Repairs and maintenance 24,687 32,459
Power and fuel 23,969 26,935
Other operating costs 47,134 65,769
Decrease/(increase) in value of mineral products inventory 14,699 (17,693)
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment 35,820 40,850
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 64,762
Finance income (543) (6,314)
Finance costs 37,805 34,852
Foreign exchange gain (22,658) (24,113)
Total 204,522 274,968
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7. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The analysis of the Company auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for audit of the Company’s annual accounts  15 15
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for other services to the Group:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 60 60
Total audit fees 75 75

Non-audit fees
Audit related assurance services 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for review of the Group’s Half Yearly Financial Report  33 19

Taxation compliance services 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for taxation compliance services  5 5

Corporate finance, compliance and assurance services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for corporate finance, compliance and assurance services 
relating to funding activities  119 -

Total non-audit fees 157 24

Total fees 232 99

The analysis of the Project Companies auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees
Fees payable to the Project Companies’ auditors for audit of the Project Companies’ accounts 80 90
Total audit fees  80 90

Non-audit fees
Fees payable to the Project Companies’ auditors for review of the Project Companies’ Half Yearly 
Financial Reports  36

 
33

Taxation compliance services 
Fees payable to the Project Companies’ auditors for taxation compliance services  10 10

Other assurance services
Fees payable to the Project Companies’ auditors for preparation of statutory books under Mozambican 
company law  3  3

Total non-audit fees 49 46

Total fees 129 136

The Company’s auditors are Deloitte and the Project Companies’ auditors are KPMG. Details of the Company’s policy on the use of 
auditors for non-audit services, the reasons why the Company auditor was used rather than another supplier and how the auditors’ 
independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee Report on pages 57 to 59. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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8. FINANCE INCOME 
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Interest on bank deposits 45 184
Fair value of warrants 498 6,130
Total 543 6,314

9. FINANCE COSTS 
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Interest on bank borrowings  32,705  31,370
Other financing fees 4,379 2,709
Finance lease interest 145 210
Mine closure provision unwinding of the discount 576 563
Total 37,805 34,852

The interest on all Group borrowings has been expensed in the financial year. 

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Corporation tax - -
Deferred tax 1,320 (143)
Total 1,320 (143)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Loss before tax (61,939) (100,651)

Loss before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rate (12.5%) (7,742) (12,581)
Differences in effective tax rates on overseas earnings 7,742 12,581
Applied losses - (143)
Recognition of deferred tax asset 1,320 -
Total 1,320 (143)
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
GROUP
No charge to corporation tax arises in the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 as there were no taxable 
profits in either financial year. 

At the statement of financial position date Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited had unused tax losses of US$7.5 million (2014: 
nil) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset of US$1.3 million (2014: nil) has been recognised for losses available 
for offset against future profits. Based on the forecast at the year end for Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited these profits are 
expected to materialise within the next three years. 
 
The fiscal regime applicable to the mining activities of Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited allows for a 50% reduction in the 
corporate tax in the initial ten year period of production following start-up (2007) and charges a royalty of 3% based on heavy mineral 
concentrate sold to Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited. The royalty charge payable to the Government of Mozambique for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2015 was US$2.6 million (2014: US$3.6 million). Under the fiscal regime applicable to mining 
activities, Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited is exempted from import and export taxes and VAT, and accelerated depreciation 
is permitted. Whilst withholding tax is levied on certain payments to non-residents, mining companies are exempt from withholding tax 
on dividends for the first ten years or until their investment is recovered whichever is earlier. The withholding tax charge payable to the 
Government of Mozambique for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 was US$0.4 million (2014: US$0.5 million).

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in 
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
statement of financial position liability method. The fiscal regime applicable to mining allows for the option to use accumulation of 
exploration and development expense and optional depreciation at 25% per annum with tax losses allowed to be carried forward for 
three years. 

Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited has Industrial Free Zone (“IFZ”) status. As an IFZ company, it is exempted from import 
and export taxes, VAT and other corporation taxes. A revenue tax of 1% is charged after six years of operation, which became payable 
in 2013. The revenue tax payable to the Government of Mozambique for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 was US$1.4 
million (2014: US$1.7 million). There is no dividend withholding tax under the IFZ regime.

COMPANY
No charge to taxation arises in the financial years ended 31 December 2015 or 31 December 2014 as there were no taxable profits in 
either financial year.

At the statement of financial position date, the Parent Company has unused tax losses. Due to the uncertainty over the existence of 
future taxable profits, a deferred tax asset of US$2.0 million at 31 December 2015 (2014: US$2.0 million) calculated at a rate of 12.5% 
for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of financial position.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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11. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent is based on the following 
data: 		

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent (60,619) (100,794) 

2015 2014

Number of Number of

shares shares

Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares for 
the purpose of basic loss per share 2,781,905,503 2,781,905,503

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Shares, share options and warrants -  -
 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
 the purposes of diluted loss per share 2,781,905,503 2,781,905,503

Cent per share  Cent per share

Loss per share: basic  (2.18) (3.62)

Loss per share: diluted  (2.18) (3.62)

In 2015, the basic loss per share and the diluted loss per share are the same as the effect of the outstanding share options, share 
awards and warrants are anti-dilutive.
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12. EMPLOYEE NUMBERS AND BENEFITS
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Executive Directors) in 2015 was 1,441 (2014: 1,592) and is 
analysed below:

2015 2014

Management and administration 398 464
Operations 1,043 1,128

1,441 1.592

The aggregate payroll costs incurred in respect of these employees comprised:
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Wages and salaries 41,817 52,757
Share-based payments (674) 1,349
Social insurance costs 2,156 2,984
Retirement benefit costs 310  371

43,609 57,461

All costs disclosed above were expensed in the current and prior financial years.
	
Included in wages and salaries are payroll taxes of US$7.1 million (2014: US$8.3 million) payable to the Government of Mozambique, 
US$1.6 million (2014: US$1.9 million) payable to Irish Revenue and US$0.1 million (2014: US$0.1 million) payable to Her Majesty’s 
Revenue & Customs of the UK.
 
Included in the social insurance costs is US$1.6 million (2014: US$2.2 million) payable to the Government of Mozambique, US$0.5 
million (2014: US$0.7 million) payable to Irish Revenue and US$0.1 million (2014: US$0.1 million) payable to Her Majesty’s Revenue & 
Customs of the UK.

Included in the payroll cost above are Executive and Non-Executive emoluments (inclusive of the share-based payments) of US$2.2 
million (2014: US$2.7 million). In addition, during 2015, US$0.3 million of fees were paid to Lemna Limited, a company connected with 
Mr. J. Ensall, for services provided by him.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
GROUP 

Plant & Development Construction Other Total

Equipment Expenditure In Progress Assets

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2014 789,246 249,984 14,195 32,518 1,085,943
Transfer from construction in progress 7,905 - (9,574) 1,669 -
Adjustments during the financial year (20,198) - - 18,730 (1,468)
Additions during the financial year - - 5,187 - 5,187

At 1 January 2015 776,953 249,984 9,808 52,917 1,089,662
Transfer from construction in progress 9,104 - (9,875) 771 -
Additions during the financial year - - 5,564 - 5,564

At 31 December 2015 786,057 249,984 5,497 53,688 1,095,226

Accumulated Depreciation 
At 1 January 2014 69,283 32,463 - 17,087 118,833
Charge for the financial year 27,462 7,938 - 5,450 40,850
Impairment loss - 64,762 - - 64,762

At 1 January 2015 96,745 105,163 - 22,537 224,445
Charge for the financial year 25,609 4,912 - 5,299 35,820
At 31 December 2015 122,354 110,075 - 27,836 260,265

Carrying Amount
At 31 December 2015 663,703 139,909 5,497 25,852 834,961

At 31 December 2014 680,208 144,821 9,808 30,380 865,217

		
During the financial year the Group carried out an impairment review of property, plant and equipment. The cash generating unit for the 
purpose of impairment testing is the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine. The basis on which the recoverable amount of the Moma Titanium 
Minerals Mine is assessed is its value-in-use. The cash flow forecast employed for the value-in-use computation is from a life of mine 
financial model. The recoverable amount obtained from the financial model represents the present value of the future pre-tax, pre-
finance cash flows discounted at 10%. 
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Key assumptions include the following:
•	 A mine plan based on the Namalope and Nataka proved and probable reserves as set out in the Reserve and Resources table. 

During 2015, 776 million tonnes of Nataka orebody resources were reclassified as reserves. Inclusion of these additional reserves 
extends the last year of operations from 2033 to 2056. The life of mine assumption has changed from the prior year end review to 
include reserves and resources. Specific resource material is only included where there is a high degree of confidence in its economic 
extraction. 

•	 Average annual production is approximately 1.0 million tonnes of ilmenite plus co-products, zircon and rutile over the life of the mine. 
This assumption has remained unchanged from the prior financial year end review. 

•	 Product sales prices are based on contract prices as stipulated in marketing agreements with customers, or where contracts are 
based on market prices or production is not presently contracted, prices are forecast by Kenmare taking into account independent 
titanium mineral sands expertise and management expectations including general inflation of 2% per annum. Average forecast 
product sales prices have remained relatively unchanged over the life of mine from the prior financial year end review. 

•	 Operating costs are based on approved budget costs for 2016 taking into account the current running costs of the mine, adjusted for 
forecast cost savings and escalated by 2% per annum thereafter.

•	 Capital costs are based on a life of mine capital plan considering inflation at 2% per annum from 2016. 

As a result of the review no impairment provision is required. The impairment loss of US$64.8 million recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in 2014 is not reversed as the low product sale prices and market conditions which resulted in this 
impairment are still existent.

The discount rate is a significant factor in determining the recoverable amount. A 1% increase/(decrease) in the discount rate results in 
a 9% decrease/(11% increase) in the recoverable amount. 

Included in plant and equipment are capital spares of US$2.9 million (2014: US$3.0 million). 

Assets of US$18.7 million were reclassified from plant and equipment to other assets in 2014. 

Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited (Mozambique Branch) and Electricidade de Mocambique (“EdM”) amended the 
power supply agreement in 2013 to cater for the increased power requirement of the mine as result of the expansion. As part of this 
amendment EdM agreed to reimburse part of the capital costs incurred to upgrade the power grid to accommodate the increased 
power requirement. These costs were finalised in 2014 with EdM’s share being US$1.4 million and this was transferred from property, 
plant and equipment to other receivables in 2014. 

Substantially all the property, plant and equipment of the Group is or will be mortgaged, pledged or otherwise secured to provide 
collateral for the Group’s Super Senior, Senior and Subordinated Loans as detailed in Note 23.

The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and equipment includes an amount of US$0.7 million (2014: US$1.1 million) in respect of 
assets held under finance lease, detailed in Note 24.

The recovery of property, plant and equipment is dependent upon the successful operation of the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine; the 
realisation of the cash flow forecast assumptions as set out in this note, and in Note 1, would result in the recovery of such amounts. 
The Directors are satisfied that at the statement of financial position date the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment 
exceeds its carrying amount and based on the planned mine production levels that the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine will achieve 
positive cash flows. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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14 DEFERRED TAX
GROUP

US$’000

At 1 January 2014 143
Charge to statement of comprehensive income (143)
At 1 January 2015 -
Credit to statement of comprehensive income 1,320
At 31 December 2015 1,320

At the statement of financial position date, Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited had unused tax losses of US$7.5 million (2014: 
nil) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset of US$1.3 million (2014: nil) has been recognised for losses which 
are available for offset against future profits. Tax losses of nil (2014: US$0.8 million) expired in the financial year. Tax losses may be 
carried forward for three years. No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising in connection with accelerated 
tax depreciation as the differences are not significant. Revenues of Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited are determined with 
reference to cost incurred in producing heavy mineral concentrate plus a margin which is related to prices earned by Kenmare Moma 
Processing (Mauritius) Limited.

15. INVENTORIES
GROUP

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Mineral products 27,643 42,312
Consumable spares 18,585 20,140

46,228 62,452

At 31 December 2015, total final product stocks were 237,300 tonnes (2014: 219,500 tonnes) of which 40,000 tonnes were being held 
for a customer under a bill and hold arrangement. Closing stock of intermediate magnetic concentrate at the end of 2015 was 70,500 
tonnes (2014: 60,600 tonnes). Closing stock of heavy mineral concentrate was 11,800 tonnes (2014: 29,600 tonnes). 

Net realisable value is determined with reference to forecast prices of finished products expected to be achieved. There is no guarantee 
that these prices will be achieved in the future, particularly in weak product markets. During the financial year there was a write down of 
US$16.0 million (2014: US$7.7 million) to mineral products to value them at net realisable value. 

16. INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
COMPANY

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Opening balance 643,840 649,493
Funding (4,680) (5,653)
Novated Absa Facility (20,000) -
Provision (60,619) -
Closing balance 558,541 643,840
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16. INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS (continued)		
The investments in subsidiary undertakings are US$110.3 million (2014: US$111.5 million). This is made up of the investment during 
2013 in Kenmare Resources Jersey Limited as part of the equity placing of US$104.4 million, initial investments of less than US$500 in 
the other subsidiary undertakings of the Group and share-based payments of US$5.9 million (2014: US$7.1 million) relating to staff of 
the subsidiary undertakings Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited and Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited. During the 
financial year there were share-based payments of which US$1.2 million credit (2014: US$0.9 million expense) related to the subsidiary 
undertakings Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited and Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited. 

The balance of US$448.2 million (2014: US$532.3 million) represents funds transferred to subsidiary undertakings. During 2015 there 
was a net movement of US$4.7 million (2014: US$5.6 million) relating to funding of subsidiary undertakings. As detailed in Note 23, 
under the April 2015 Amendment the Absa Corporate facility of US$20.0 million ceased to be an unsecured debt obligation of the 
Company and was novated as a secured Subordinated Debt obligation of the Project Companies. A provision was created against the 
amounts due from subsidiary undertakings of US$60.6 million (2014: nil) at the financial year end.

Credit Risk
The carrying amount of investments in and amounts due to subsidiary undertakings represents the maximum credit exposure. Amounts 
due from subsidiary undertakings are current (i.e. not overdue). An impairment provision of US$60.6 million (2014: nil) has been 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and interest free.

The subsidiary undertakings of the Company as at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Place of Place of Percentage

Incorporation Operation Ownership

Kenmare (U.K.) Company Limited Northern Ireland Northern Ireland 100%
Kenmare Minerals Company Limited Republic of Ireland Republic of Ireland 100%
Kenmare C.I. Limited Jersey Jersey 100%
Congolone Heavy Minerals Limited Jersey Mozambique 100%
Kenmare Resources (Jersey) Limited Jersey Jersey 100%
Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius Mozambique 100%
Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius Mozambique 100%
Mozambique Minerals Limited Jersey Mozambique 100% 

Each of the subsidiary undertakings with the exception of Kenmare Resources (Jersey) Limited has issued ordinary shares only. 
Kenmare Resources (Jersey) Limited has both ordinary and preference shares. A number of the subsidiary undertakings are indirectly 
owned by Kenmare Resources plc. The activities of the above undertakings are mining, mineral exploration, management and 
development. 

The registered office of the Northern Ireland company is Terence McCourt Solicitors, 19 Bachelors Walk, Lisburn BT28 1XJ. The 
registered office of the Republic of Ireland company is Chatham House, Chatham Street, Dublin 2. The registered office of the Jersey 
companies is Zedra Trust Company (Jersey) Limited, 39 - 41 Broad Street, St. Helier, Jersey except for Kenmare Resources Jersey 
Limited whose registered office is Ogier House, The Esplanade, St. Helier, Jersey. The registered office of the Mauritius companies is 
10th Floor Standard Chartered Tower, 19 Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius.

The recovery of amounts due from subsidiary undertakings is dependent on the successful operation of the Moma Titanium Minerals 
Mine; the realisation of cash flow forecast assumptions as set out in Note 1 and Note 13 would result in the recovery of such amounts. 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP  COMPANY

2015 2014 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000 US’000 US$’000

Trade receivables 17,220 25,150 - -
EdM receivable 1,020 1,392 - -
Other receivables 193 590 77 64
Prepayments 2,484 1,007 96 105

20,917 28,139 173 169

Amounts due within one year 20,268 27,118 173 169
Amounts due after one year 649 1,021 - -

20,917 28,139 173 169

EdM receivable
Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited (Mozambique Branch) and Electricidade de Mocambique (“EdM”) amended the 
power supply agreement in 2013 to cater for the increased power requirement of the mine as result of the expansion. As part of this 
amendment EdM agreed to reimburse part of the capital costs incurred to upgrade the power grid to accommodate the increased 
power requirement. These costs were finalised in 2014 with EdM’s share being US$1.4 million. This is repayable in 48 monthly 
instalments by means of a credit to the electricity bill. During 2015 repayments totalled US$0.4 million (2014: US$0.1 million). 

Credit risk
The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables represents the maximum credit exposure. Before entering into sales contracts 
with new customers, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines 
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly during the year. Of the trade receivables balance at the 
end of the financial year, US$9.8 million (2014: US$9.7 million) is due from the Group’s three largest customers. The external credit 
scoring system used by the Group gives each of these three customers the highest score in their financial strength credit index and 
their risk indictor represents a minimum risk of business failure. 

The Group has a trade finance facility with Absa Corporate and Business Bank. 

All trade receivables are current (i.e. not overdue). There has been no impairment in trade receivables during the financial year and no 
allowance for impairment has been provided for during the financial year or at the financial year end.

Currency risk
The currency profile of trade and other receivables at the financial year end is as follows:

GROUP 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

US Dollars 20,231 28,048
Euro 257 65
South African Rand 217  -
Mozambican Metical 165 21 
Australian Dollar 38 -
Sterling 9 5

20,917 28,139
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

COMPANY 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Euro 84 65
US Dollars 80 99
Sterling 9 5

173 169

 Fluctuations in the currencies noted above will impact on the Group’s financial results.

 18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP COMPANY

2015 2014 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000 US’000 US$’000

Immediately available 
without restriction 9,658 9,619 99 195
Contingency Reserve Account 2 2 - -
Project Companies’ Accounts 4,692 12,174 - -

14,352 21,795 99 195

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the purposes of meeting short-term cash commitments and investments 
which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Where investments 
are categorised as cash equivalents, the related balances have a maturity of three months or less from the date of investment. 

The Contingency Reserve Account (the “CRA”) is an account established under a cash collateral and shareholder funding deed 
to provide for shareholder funding to the Project Companies and to secure the obligations of the Company and Congolone Heavy 
Minerals Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking) under the Completion Agreement.

Interest rate risk
Cash at bank earns interest at variable rates based on daily bank deposit rates, which may be zero. Short-term deposits are made 
for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the 
respective short-term deposit rates. The interest rate profile of the Group’s cash balances at the financial year end was as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents at variable interest rate 13,843 21,510
Cash at bank on which no interest is received 509 285

14,352 21,795
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
Currency risk
The currency profile of cash and cash equivalents at the financial year end is as follows:

GROUP 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

US Dollars 7,976 16,351
Sterling 4,710 4,997
Euro 1,411 232
Mozambican Metical 214 158
Australian Dollars 18 34
South African Rand 4 13
Renminbi 19 10

14,352 21,795

COMPANY 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Euro 71 148
Renminbi 19 10
Sterling 8 37
US Dollars 1 -

99 195

Fluctuations in the currencies noted above will impact on the Group’s financial results.

Credit risk
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because funds available to the Group are deposited with banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. For deposits of US$50 million plus the Group requires that the institution have 
an A (S&P)/ A2 (Moody’s) long term rating. For deposits of US$20 million or South African Rand denominated deposits the Group 
requires that the institution have a BBB+ (S&P)/Baa1 (Moody’s) long term rating. 

19. CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL
GROUP & COMPANY

2015 2014

€’000 €’000

Authorised Share Capital
4,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of €0.06 each 240,000 240,000
100,000,000 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each 25,000 25,000

265,000 265,000
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19. CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Allotted, Called-Up and Fully Paid
Ordinary Shares
Opening & Closing balance
2,781,905,503 Ordinary Shares of €0.06 each 214,941 214,941

Deferred Shares
Opening & Closing balance
48,031,467 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each - 10,582
Total Called-Up Share Capital 214,941 225,523

On 12 October 2015, it was resolved that the Company acquire all of the 48,031,467 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each in the capital of the 
Company in issue by transfer or surrender to the Company otherwise than for valuable consideration in accordance with Section 102(1)
(a) of the Companies Act 2014 and Article 3(ii) of the Articles of Association of the Company and, in accordance with Section 106(1) of 
the Companies Act 2014, cancel such Deferred Shares.

The Deferred Shares of €0.25 per share were created in 1991 by subdividing each existing Ordinary Share of IR25p into one Deferred 
Share of IR20p and one new Ordinary Share of IR5p. The Deferred Shares were non-voting, carried no dividend rights, and the 
Company had the right to purchase any or all of these shares at a price not exceeding €0.01 per share for all the deferred shares so 
purchased.

20. SHARE PREMIUM
GROUP & COMPANY

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Opening and closing balance 431,380 431,380

Share premium of US$431.4 million (2014: US$431.4 million) relates to share premium arising on shares issued. 

21. RETAINED LOSSES
GROUP

US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 (14,238)
Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent  (100,794)
Balance at 1 January 2015 (115,032)
Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent (60,619)
Balance at 31 December 2015 (175,651)
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21. RETAINED LOSSES (continued)
COMPANY

US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 (56,947)
Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent  (3,330)
Balance at 1 January 2015 (60,277)
Loss for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent (63,319)
Balance at 31 December 2015 (123,596)

During the financial year nil (2014: nil) share options were exercised.

22. OTHER RESERVES
GROUP & COMPANY

Share
Based 

Payment 
Reserve

Capital 
Conversion 

Reserve Fund

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve Fund Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 20,793 754 - 21,547
Recognition of share-based payments 1,349 - - 1,349
Balance at 1 January 2015 22,142 754 - 22,896
Recognition of share-based payments (674) - - (674)
Redemption of deferred shares - - 10,582 10,582
Balance at 31 December 2015 21,468 754 10,582 32,804

					   
The share based payment reserve arises on the grant of share options and shares to certain Directors, employees and consultants 
under the share option scheme and Kenmare Incentive Plan. Details of share-based payments are given in Note 34.

The capital conversion reserve fund arises from the re-nominalisation of the Company’s share capital from Irish Punts to Euro. 

The Deferred Shares of €0.25 per share were created in 1991 by subdividing each existing Ordinary Share of IR25p into one Deferred 
Share of IR20p and one new Ordinary Share of IR5p. The Deferred Shares were non-voting, carried no dividend rights, and the 
Company had the right to purchase any or all of these shares at a price not exceeding €0.01 per share for all the deferred shares so 
purchased.

On 12 October 2015, it was resolved that the Company acquire all of the 48,031,467 Deferred Shares of €0.25 each in the capital of the 
Company in issue by transfer or surrender to the Company otherwise than for valuable consideration in accordance with Section 102(1)
(a) of the Companies Act 2014 and Article 3(ii) of the Articles of Association of the Company and, in accordance with Section 106(1) of 
the Companies Act 2014, cancel such Deferred Shares.
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23. BANK LOANS
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Project Loans
Super Senior Loans 10,417 -
Senior Loans 79,178 80,059
Subordinated Loans 278,216 249,996
Total 367,811 330,055
Project Loan amendment fees (25,868) (11,780)
Total Project Loans 341,943 318,275
Corporate Loan - 19,399
Total Bank Loans 341,943 337,674

The borrowings are repayable as follows:	
Within one year 341,943 76,040
In the second year - 53,326
In the third to fifth years inclusive - 208,308
After five years  - -

341,943 337,674
Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months (341,943) (76,040)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  - 261,634

Project Loans
Balance at 1 January 318,275 335,781
Loan interest accrued 31,264 29,057
Loan interest paid (4,242) (4,738)
Loan repayment - (13,001)
Loan drawdown 10,000 -
Loan amendment fees (17,303) (7,371)
Loan amendment fees amortised 3,214 1,754
Novated corporate loan 20,000 -
Foreign exchange movement (19,265) (23,207)
Balance at 31 December 341,943 318,275

Corporate Loan
Balance at 1 January 19,399 19,398
Loan interest accrued 1,441 2,313
Loan interest paid (1,458) (2,308)
Loan arrangement fees - (897)
Loan arrangement fees amortised 618 893
Novated corporate loan (20,000) -
Balance at 31 December  -  19,399

Project Loans
Project loans have been made to the Mozambique branches of Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited and Kenmare Moma 
Processing (Mauritius) Limited (the “Project Companies”). The Project Loans are secured by substantially all rights and assets of the 
Project Companies, and, amongst other things, the Group’s shares in the Project Companies and the Group’s intercompany loans to 
the Project Companies. 

An amendment to the terms of the Project Loans and the Absa corporate facility was agreed with the Project Lenders and Absa on 29 
April 2015 (“April 2015 Amendment”). The terms of the amendment are set out below. 
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23. BANK LOANS (continued)
At 31 December 2015, the Project Companies were in breach of the following loan covenants, and continued to be in breach, and, as a 
result, loan balances were classified as falling due immediately.

As detailed in the Half Yearly Financial Report 2015 a cash flow forecast was prepared by management with best estimates of price 
assumptions and shipment assumptions supported by the Directors (the “Group Forecast”). In addition, as set out in the Agreed 
Roadmap, stipulated in the April 2015 Amendment, a cash flow forecast (termed the “Revised Forecast” in the finance documents) 
was delivered to Lenders. The Revised Forecast was prepared on a more conservative basis than the Group Forecast. Both the Group 
Forecast and Revised Forecast assumed that the US$30 million of the Super Senior Loan available for working capital purposes will 
be fully drawn. However, in order to draw the remainder of the Super Senior Loan, the assumptions and resulting cash flow projections 
in the Revised Forecast (but not the Group Forecast) resulted in a requirement for waivers from Lenders in respect of (i) a requirement 
that the Revised Forecast show that over the following six months the aggregate of Group cash and the Super Senior Facility undrawn 
working capital loan commitments shall be no less than US$10 million and (ii) a requirement that the Revised Forecast demonstrate the 
ability to repay the Super Senior Loan as scheduled. As a result, the Group submitted to Project Lenders a request for waivers of the 
relevant event of default and conditions precedent. As at 31 December 2015, the requested waivers had not been granted, and to date, 
necessary waivers have not been granted. In addition, a number of other events of default have arisen under the loan documents. As a 
consequence, the Group has been unable to draw the additional US$20 million of working capital loans under the Super Senior Facility.

Deleveraging Plan and reduction of existing Project Debt
A condition of the April 2015 Amendment was a requirement on the Group to deliver to, and agree with, Lenders a material 
deleveraging plan (“Deleveraging Plan”) by 31 January 2016, failing which an event of default would ensue. A Deleveraging Plan was 
delivered to Lenders by this deadline, but was not agreed with Lenders by this deadline. To date, a Deleveraging Plan has not been 
agreed by Lenders. However, significant progress has now been made and the Lenders continue to work with the Group on satisfaction 
of the pre-conditions necessary for the implementation of a deleveraging plan. 

The current Deleveraging Plan includes the following key elements (together “the Capital Restructuring”):
(i) A US$100 million placing of new ordinary shares with a sovereign wealth fund of the Sultanate of Oman (“SGRF”) and a US$100 

million placing of new ordinary shares with King Ally Holdings Limited (“King Ally”) (in aggregate US$200 million) (“the Cornerstone 
Placing”) and an additional firm placing, at the same issue price (“Issue Price”) as the Cornerstone Placing, of not less than 
US$75 million (“Firm Placing”) for which participation commitments will be sought from a number of new and existing institutional 
shareholders; 

(ii) Application of US$200 million of the proceeds of the Cornerstone Placing and Firm Placing to repay US$200 million of debt, the 
discharge of an additional US$50 million of debt at no extra cost, together with the discharge of certain interest accruing on project 
loans (excluding the Super Senior Facility) from 25 November, 2015 until the date of receipt of Lender approvals, with the balance of 
the net proceeds (after expenses of the issue and of the Capital Restructuring) of the Cornerstone Placing and Firm Placing being 
retained by the Company for working capital purposes;

(iii) An open offer (“Open Offer”) to existing shareholders to subscribe for new ordinary shares on the same terms as under the 
Cornerstone Placing and Firm Placing. The maximum size of the Open Offer will be such as to enable the discharge of all remaining 
outstanding indebtedness in the event of full subscription under the Open Offer on the basis that for every US$3 raised under the 
Open Offer US$4 of debt obligations are extinguished;

(iv) To the extent that subscriptions under the Open Offer are insufficient to reduce outstanding indebtedness to US$100 million, the 
amount of debt in excess of US$100 million will be equitized at the Issue Price.
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23. BANK LOANS (continued)
The net effect of these arrangements will be that the amount of debt remaining outstanding following the completion of the Capital 
Restructuring will not be more than US$100 million (the “Retained Debt”) and (dependent on the level of subscription for new ordinary 
shares under the Open Offer) could be less.

Retained Debt
The final maturity date applicable to the Retained Debt will be 1 February 2022. The Retained Debt will be repayable on each payment 
date (being 1 February and 1 August), commencing on 1 February 2018 (each a “Debt Payment Date”) in semi-annual instalments 
(each, a “Debt Repayment Instalment”) in accordance with the amortisation profile set out below:

Debt Payment Date Debt Repayment Instalment (%)

1 Feb 2018 9.52381

1 Aug 2018 9.52381
1 Feb 2019 9.52381
1 Aug 2019 9.52381
1 Feb 2020 9.52381
1 Aug 2020 9.52381
1 Feb 2021 9.52381
1 Aug 2021 11.11111
1 Feb 2022 22.22222

The interest rate on the Retained Debt will be a 6 month US LIBOR plus a margin of 4.75% per annum until 1 February 2020 and 
thereafter 5.50% per annum. Interest will be payable in cash on each Debt Payment Date, commencing 1 August 2016. 

On each Debt Payment Date from and including the first Debt Payment Date, the Borrowers shall prepay a portion of outstanding 
Retained Debt in an amount equal to the sum of (i) 25% of the amounts available to make a Restricted Payment in accordance with 
and subject to the loan agreements and (ii) 50% of “Net Arbitration Proceeds” as defined below, to be applied across all Retained Debt 
in inverse order of amortisation payments, provided that if any Lender elects not to participate in this cash sharing, the amount that 
would otherwise be available to prepay that Lender shall be applied in prepayment of the other Lenders. Restricted Payments will not 
be permitted prior to the first Debt Payment Date. 

In the event that the current arbitration is resolved in favour of the Project (whether by way of arbitral award, settlement or otherwise), 
the resulting proceeds received by the Project Companies following such resolution (net of all costs incurred in connection with such 
arbitration) (such net proceeds, the “Net Arbitration Proceeds”) shall be applied by the Project Companies as follows: 
•	 50% of the Net Arbitration Proceeds shall be applied in mandatory prepayment of the Retained Debt on the next following Payment 

Date in the order of priority to be agreed between the Lenders; and
•	 Any residual amounts of Net Arbitration Proceeds may be retained by the Project Companies to apply in accordance with applicable 

waterfalls and may also be deposited in a segregated reserve account (which shall be secured in favour of the Lenders) to fund 
future capital expenditures, but shall in any case not count as an amount available for Restricted Payments for purposes of the Cash 
Sharing provision above unless actually used (in part or in whole) for purposes of making a Restricted Payment. 
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23. BANK LOANS (continued)
No restructuring or other fees will be payable to Lenders as a result of the Deleveraging Plan or Equity Issue.

All costs and expenses (including legal fees) reasonably incurred by the Lenders and their advisers in connection with the preparation, 
negotiation, printing, execution and syndication of a supplemental agreement and any other document referred to in it shall be paid by 
the Project Companies, subject, in each case, to the relevant engagement letters and to terms referred to therein.

A summary of the project debt at 31 December 2015 is detailed below. 

Super Senior Facility
The Project Lenders provided to the Project Companies a two year US$50 million non-revolving facility maturing on 29 April 2017, 
US$30 million of which (the “Working Capital Loans”) was made available for drawing for working capital purposes and US$20 million 
of which was made available to fund, if required, certain disputed liabilities subject to arbitration. Interest on the facility is at LIBOR 
for the applicable period plus a margin of 10% per annum, payable semi-annually on 1 February and 1 August. Commitment fees are 
4% on the average undrawn balance payable quarterly in arrears. An arrangement fee of 1% flat on the commitment was payable 
within 5 business days of 29 April 2015. Other than the payment of any outstanding amounts at maturity, there are no fixed principal 
repayments. Instead, payments based on available cash under a cash sweep mechanism will be required to be made. Any amount of 
Super Senior Debt repaid will not be available to be redrawn. The Super Senior Facility comprises the most senior tranche of project 
financing debt and benefits from the same guarantees (including from the Company pursuant to the Completion Agreement) and 
security as the existing Senior Debt and Subordinated Debt; it ranks contractually senior to the existing Senior Debt. Project Lenders 
made an initial disbursement of the Working Capital Loans of US$10 million on 11 August 2015. As noted above, because certain 
events of default and conditions precedent to disbursement remain unwaived, the balance of the Super Senior Loans is not available 
for drawdown.

Senior Debt
Seven Senior Loan credit facilities were made available for financing the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine.  The aggregate maximum 
available amount of the Senior Loan credit facilities was US$185 million plus €15 million which were fully drawn in 2008. As at 31 
December 2015, the Senior Loan tenors ranged from 2.5 year to 5 years. Three of the Senior Loans bear interest at fixed rates and four 
bear interest at variable rates. 

Scheduled repayment of the Senior Debt is on the basis of a fixed US$2 million semi-annual instalment allocated pro rata to the 
amounts outstanding as at 1 February 2015. The first such instalment is scheduled for no earlier than 1 February 2017 and no later than 
1 August 2017, depending on when the Super Senior Facility is repaid in full.
 
In addition to the scheduled instalments of Senior Debt, payments based on available cash under a cash sweep mechanism will be 
required to be made.

Subordinated Debt
The original Subordinated Loan credit facilities (made available under documentation entered into in June 2004) with original principal 
amounts of €47.1 million plus US$10 million (excluding capitalised interest) were fully drawn in 2005. The Standby Subordinated Loan 
credit facilities (made available under documentation entered into in June 2005) with original principal amounts of €2.8 million and 
US$4 million were fully drawn in 2007. The Additional Standby Subordinated Loan credit facilities of US$12 million and US$10 million 
(made available under documentation entered into in August 2007) were fully drawn in 2008. 

All the Subordinated Loans bear interest at a fixed rate of 11% per annum. Interest that is not paid under cash sweep mechanism will 
be capitalised. Scheduled payments of interest and principal are no longer required to be made, and the final maturity date is 1 August 
2021. Prior to the final maturity date, interest and principal payments based on available cash based on a cash sweep mechanism will 
be required to be made.
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23. BANK LOANS (continued)
Novated Absa Facility
The Absa Corporate Facility ceased to be an unsecured primary debt obligation of the Company upon the effectiveness of the April 
2015 Amendment on 24 July 2015 and was novated as a secured obligation of the Project Companies (the “Novated Absa Facility”); 
the Novated Absa Facility comprises a tranche of Subordinated Debt and benefits from the same guarantees (including from the 
Company pursuant to the Completion Agreement) as the existing Senior Debt, Subordinated Debt and the Super Senior Facility and 
the same security as the Subordinated Debt; it ranks pari passu with the other Subordinated Loans for purposes of enforcement but 
shall, other than as specified under the cash sweep mechanism, ranks contractually subordinated to the Super Senior Loans, Senior 
Loans and the other Subordinated Loans. At the same time the terms and conditions of the Novated Absa Facility were amended, the 
principal terms being summarised below:
•	 Final maturity: 1 August 2021 (was 31 March 2016);
•	 Interest: accrues at 11% per annum and is payable under the cash sweep mechanism;
•	 Amortisation: no fixed amortisation. Repayment of principal is payable under the cash sweep mechanism.

Consistent with the other Subordinated Debt, the Novated Absa Loan has the benefit of the right of Subordinated Lenders under the 
Subordinated Lenders’ Option Agreement to elect to receive, upon a change of control, payment of the full amount of the Subordinated 
Debt outstanding, together with a prepayment fee calculated as 30% of the outstanding principal amount of Subordinated Debt. In 
connection with a partial change of control (being the acquisition, directly or indirectly, of more than 25% of the voting shares or capital 
stock in a Project Company), the Novated Absa Loan has the benefit of the right of the Subordinated Lenders to elect to receive a 
payment in relation to such percentage of Subordinated Debt as is equal to the percentage of voting shares or capital stock acquired, 
together with a prepayment fee of 30% calculated on the amount repaid.

April 2015 Amendment Fees and Expenses
A restructuring fee of 0.75% on the 1 February 2015 outstanding balance on the Project Loans is payable to Project Lenders. A 
restructuring fee of 4% on the principal amount of the Absa Corporate Facility is payable to Absa in the form of warrants on a basis 
similar to those issued to Absa in connection with the July 2014 Amendment. Payment of these fees has been deferred to the 30 June 
2016. 

Group borrowings interest, currency and liquidity risk
Loan facilities arranged at fixed interest rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Loan facilities arranged at variable rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Variable rates are based on six month LIBOR. The average effective borrowing rate at 
financial year end was 9.6%. The interest rate profile of the Group’s loan balances at the financial year end was as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Fixed rate debt 294,932 210,459
Variable rate debt 47,011 127,215
Total debt 341,943 337,674

The fair value of the Group borrowings of US$333.3 million (2014: US$301.8 million) has been calculated by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at prevailing interest rates and by applying financial year end exchange rates. 
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23. BANK LOANS (continued)
Under the assumption that all other variables remain constant and using the most relevant 6 month LIBOR rates a 1% change in the 
LIBOR rate will result in a US$0.5 million (2014: US$1.3 million) change in finance costs for the financial year.

The currency profile of loans at the financial year end is as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Euro 170,195 184,239
US Dollars 171,748 153,435

341,943 337,674

The Euro denominated loans expose the Group to currency fluctuations. These currency fluctuations are realised on payment of 
Euro denominated debt principal and interest. Under the assumption that all other variables remain constant, a 10% strengthening or 
weakening of Euro against the US Dollar would result in a US$2.0 million (2014: US$1.8 million) change in finance costs and a US$17.0 
million (2014: US$18.4 million) change in foreign exchange gain or loss for the financial year.

The above sensitivity analyses are estimates of the impact of market risks assuming the specified change occurs. Actual results in the 
future may differ materially from these results due to developments in the global financial markets which may cause fluctuations in 
interest and exchange rates to vary from the assumptions made above and therefore should not be considered a projection of likely 
future events. 

24. FINANCE LEASE

Minimum lease payments
Present value of

 minimum lease payments
2015

US$’000
2014

US$’000
2015

US$’000
2014

US$’000

Amounts payable under finance lease 
Within one year 560 560 479 415
In the second to fifth year 280 840 264 743
Less future finance charges (97) (242) - -
Present value of lease payments 743 1,158 743 1,158
Less amounts due for settlement within 12 months (479) (415)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months  264  743

The Group has leased equipment for the receipt, storage and dispensing of diesel fuel under a finance lease. The lease term is ten 
years from the commencement date (2007) with an option to purchase the assets after one year from the commencement date of 
the lease. For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the average effective borrowing rate was 9.6%. The lease is on a fixed 
repayment basis and the lease obligation is denominated in US Dollars. The fair value of the Group’s lease obligation is equal to its 
carrying amount. The fair value has been calculated by discounting the expected future lease payments over the life of the lease at the 
discount rate. 
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25. PROVISIONS 
GROUP & COMPANY

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Mine closure provision 19,890 19,314
Mine rehabilitation provision 2,480 2,590
Legal provision 1,444 1,444
Executive Directors’ bonus provision - 663

23,814 24,011

Current 1,714 2,387
Non-current 22,100 21,624

23,814 24,011

Mine Mine Legal Bonus Total

Closure Rehabilitation Provision Provision

Provision Provision

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2014  18,751  2,073  1,444  703  22,971
Additional provision in the financial year  -  700  -  282  982
Provision released in the financial year  -  (183)  -  (322)  (505)
Unwinding of the discount  563  -  -  -  563
At 1 January 2015  19,314  2,590  1,444  663  24,011
Additional provision in the financial year  -  709  -  -  709
Provision released in the financial year  -  (819)  -  (663)  (1,482)
Unwinding of the discount  576  -  -  -  576
At 31 December 2015  19,890  2,480  1,444  -  23,814 

			 
The mine closure provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Group’s liability for close-down, dismantling and restoration of 
the mining and processing site. A corresponding amount equal to the provision is recognised as part of property, plant and equipment. 
The costs are estimated on the basis of a formal closure plan, are subject to regular review and are estimated based on the net present 
value of estimated future cost. Mine closure costs are a normal consequence of mining, and the majority of close-down and restoration 
expenditure is incurred at the end of the life of the mine. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost and US$0.6 
million (2014: US$0.6 million) has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial year.

The main assumptions used in the calculation of the estimated future costs include:
•	 a discount rate of 3% (2014: 3%) based on a 20-year US Treasury yield rate;
•	 an inflation rate of 2% (2014: 2%); 
•	 an estimated life of mine of 24 years; and 
•	 an estimated closure cost of US$20.4 million (2014: US$20.4 million) and an estimated post-closure monitoring provision of US$1.9 

million (2014: US$1.9 million). 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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25. PROVISIONS (continued)
A significant factor in determining the mine closure provision is the discount rate. A 1% change in the discount rate results in a 22% 
change in the mine closure provision. 

The mine rehabilitation provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the Company’s liability for rehabilitating areas disturbed 
by mining activities. Rehabilitation costs are recognised based on the area disturbed and estimated cost of rehabilitation per hectare 
which is reviewed regularly against actual rehabilitation cost per hectare. Actual rehabilitation expenditure is incurred approximately 
twelve months after the area has been disturbed. During the financial year there was a release of US$0.8 million (2014: US$0.2 million) 
to reflect the actual mine rehabilitation costs being incurred, and an additional provision of US$0.7 million (2014: US$0.7 million) for 
areas disturbed.

On 17 November 2010, a High Court jury delivered a verdict of damages of €10 million in a defamation case taken by a former 
Company director. The Company has submitted an appeal to the Supreme Court with a view to setting aside both the verdict and the 
amount, with the intention of securing a retrial. The High Court granted a stay on the award subject to the payment of €0.5 million until 
the hearing of the Supreme Court appeal. The Company’s legal team strongly advise that the award will be set aside on appeal. The 
same former director has also served notice that he intends to pursue a number of non-defamation actions against the Company.

Prior to 2014 an Annual Bonus Scheme was in place for the Executive Directors a feature of which was the payment of a bonus earned 
for target performance which is deferred for three years. The bonus in respect of performance in 2011 of US$0.4 million was paid 
in 2015. In 2014 the Kenmare Incentive Plan was adopted. Annual awards under the Kenmare Incentive Plan normally have a cash 
element. The cash element is based on a number of in-year performance targets. Based on the level of achievement against these 
targets, the cash element will be paid shortly after the end of the relevant performance year. During the financial year US$0.3 million 
was paid for the 2014 cash element. For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee considered, in light 
of the exceptional circumstances facing the Company, that the cash element be awarded as shares, as detailed in Note 34. 

26. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
GROUP & COMPANY

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Warrants – equity 12 380
Warrants – corporate facility 10 140

22 520

On 16 October 2013, 250,300,000 new ordinary shares were issued by way of a placing which raised US$101.9 million net of 
expenses. In addition to ordinary shares, participants in the placing were issued warrants on the basis of one warrant to subscribe for 
one ordinary share in the Company for every five placing shares. In total 50,060,000 warrants were issued. The warrants, which are not 
listed or admitted to trading and which have limited transferability rights, have an exercise price of Stg29.09p and an exercise period of 
five years commencing thirteen months after the date of issue. 

On 31 July 2014, the Group agreed with corporate bank loan provider, Absa, an extension of the maturity date of the US$20 million 
corporate loan (the “Absa facility”) from 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2016. An extension fee of US$800,000 was settled in 7,257,850 
warrants for Kenmare Resources plc shares on 1 September 2014 which have an exercise price of Stg11p. The warrants are 
exercisable for a period of seven years and are otherwise on substantially the same terms as the warrants issued on 16 October 2013 
detailed above. 

A financial liability of nil (2014: US$0.5 million) based on the fair value of the warrants at the statement of financial position date has 
been recorded as the cost of issuing the warrants with the reduction in value of US$0.5 million included in finance income in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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26. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
The fair values were calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The inputs into the calculation were as follows:

 2015 2014

Year end share price £0.0046 £0.0324
Year end Stg£/US$ exchange rate 0.68  0.64
Warrant exercise price £0.11/£0.2909  £0.11/£0.2909
Expected volatility  94%  70%
Expected life (years) 4 to 6 5 to 7
 Risk free rate  2.0%  1.8%

Significant factors in determining the warrant fair value are the Company share price and expected volatility. A 10% change in the 
Company share price results in a 20% change in the fair value of the warrants. A 10% change in expected volatility results in a 65% 
change in the fair value of the warrants. 

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Amounts payable within one year		

GROUP COMPANY

2015 2014 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000  US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables 8,415 13,657  300  -
Accruals 39,367  35,816 1,518  2,656

47,782 49,473 1,818 2,656

Included in Group accruals at the financial year end is an amount of US$0.9 million (2014: US$1.1 million) and in the Company US$0.1 
million (2014: US$0.2 million) for payroll and social insurance taxes. Included in accruals is US$19.6 million (2014: US$20.4 million) 
relating to capital projects of which US$19.4 million is disputed by the Group in arbitration proceedings. 

Credit risk
The average credit period on the purchase of goods and services is 30 days from the date of the invoice except for invoices which are 
being held as a result of disputes. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within 
the relevant credit periods. 

Currency risk
The currency profile of trade and other payables at the financial year end is as follows:

GROUP 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

South African Rand 20,105 22,201
US Dollars 21,214 18,177
Mozambican Metical 2,771 4,395
Euro 1,956 1,866
Australian Dollar	 1,498 1,669
Sterling 238 1,165

47,782 49,473

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

COMPANY 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Euro 1,591 1,721
US Dollars 206  -
Sterling 21 935

1,818 2,656

 
Fluctuations in the currencies noted above will impact on the Group’s financial results.

28. CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT
The Group’s capital management objective is to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Deleveraging Plan as set out in 
Note 1 is critical to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
The principal activity of the Group is the operation of the Mine. The Group therefore manages its capital to ensure existing operations 
are adequately funded and, based on planned mine production levels, that the Mine will achieve positive cash flows allowing returns to 
shareholders. 
 
The Group has total debt of US$341.9 million (2014: US$337.7 million), details of which are set out in Note 23. At 31 December 2015, 
the Project Companies were in breach of a number of loan covenants and, as a result, loan balances are classified as falling due 
immediately. 
 
In April 2015, the Project Lenders provided to the Project Companies a two year US$50 million non-revolving facility, US$30 million 
of which (the “Working Capital Loans”) was available for drawing for working capital purposes and US$20 million of which was made 
available to fund, if required, certain disputed liabilities subject to arbitration. Other than the payment of any outstanding amounts at 
maturity, there are no fixed principal repayments. Instead, payments based on available cash will be required to be made under a cash 
sweep mechanism. Any Super Senior Debt repaid will not be available to be redrawn. Project Lenders made an initial disbursement 
of the Working Capital Loans of US$10 million on 11 August 2015. As detailed in Note 23, until certain waivers are granted by the 
Lenders, the balance of the Super Senior Loans is not available for drawdown.
 
The other Project loans are all fully drawn. Upon the effectiveness of the April 2015 Amendment, the following provisions were 
implemented: extension of the final maturity of existing facilities; reduction in scheduled principal payments on the Senior Debt; 
elimination of scheduled interest and principal on Subordinated Debt; novation and restatement of the Absa Corporate Facility as 
a Subordinated Debt obligation of the Project Companies and an extension of final maturity from 31 March 2016 to 1 August 2021; 
repayment of Super Senior Facility principal, Senior Debt principal and Subordinated Debt interest and principal (including interest 
and principal on the novated Absa Facility) by means of a cash sweep dependent on the Group’s consolidated cash position on each 
Payment Date commencing 1 August 2016. 
 
The Board periodically reviews the capital structure of the Group, including the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class 
of capital. The Group manages and, if necessary, adjusts its capital structure taking account of the underlying economic conditions. 
Any material adjustments to the Group’s capital structure in terms of the relative proportions of debt and equity are approved by the 
Board. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
 
The definition of capital/capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 23, the 
finance lease as disclosed in Note 24, and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves, 
retained losses and other reserves as disclosed in Notes 19 to 22.
 
The Group’s policy with respect to liquidity and cash flow risk is to ensure continuity of funding through continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
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29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
GROUP

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Contracts for future expenditure authorised by the Board:
Capital authorised and contracted - -
Capital authorised not contracted 2,824 4,259

		
Capital authorised and contracted represents the amount authorised and contracted at 31 December of the relevant financial year to be 
spent on mine operations-related approved capital projects.

Capital authorised not contracted represents the amount not contracted but authorised at 31 December of the relevant financial year to 
be spent on mine operations-related approved capital projects.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
On 17 November 2010, a High Court jury delivered a verdict of damages of €10 million in a defamation case taken by a former 
Company director. The Company has submitted an appeal to the Supreme Court with a view to setting aside both the verdict and the 
amount, with the intention of securing a retrial. The High Court granted a stay on the award subject to the payment of €0.5 million until 
the hearing of the Supreme Court appeal. The Company’s legal team strongly advise that the award will be set aside on appeal and 
therefore no provision has been made in these financial statements for the award as the Company do not consider that there is any 
future probable loss. The Company has provided US$1.4 million for the costs associated with the defamation case appeal and retrial 
and further actions taken by the former director, as detailed in Note 25. 

31. PARENT COMPANY, KENMARE RESOURCES PLC STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
In accordance with section 304(2) of the Companies Act, 2014 the Company is availing of the exemption from presenting its individual 
statement of comprehensive income to the Annual General Meeting and from filing it with the Companies Registration Office. The 
Company’s loss for the financial year determined in accordance with IFRS is US$63.3 million (2014: US$3.3 million). The loss is due 
to administration costs of US$0.6 million (2014: US$5.8 million), share-based payments expenses of US$0.6 million (2014: US$0.4 
million), finance income from the fair valuation of warrants of US$0.5 million (2014: US$6.1 million loss), Absa corporate facility loan 
interest, fees and expenses of US$2.0 million (2014: US$3.2 million) and a provision for amounts due from subsidiary undertakings of 
US$60.6 million (2014: nil). 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 
GROUP & COMPANY
The Group as lessee

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 
recognised as an expense in the financial year 102 115

At the statement of financial position date, the Group has outstanding commitments under a non-cancellable operating lease which fall 
due as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Within one year - 102

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office buildings. The lease had an original term of 25 years and 
rentals were fixed for an average of 5 years. The lease has expired at year end. The underlying currencies of lease payments are Euro. 

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Company contributes to individual pension schemes on behalf of certain employees. Contributions to the schemes are charged in 
the period in which they are payable to the scheme.

GROUP & COMPANY
2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Contributions 310 371
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
Share option scheme
The Company has a share option scheme for employees and consultants. In the past share options were awarded to Executive 
Directors but this practice ceased with the introduction of the Kenmare Incentive Plan in 2014. Options are exercisable at a price equal 
to the quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant. The options generally vest over a three year period in equal 
annual amounts or if performance related in the year the performance criteria are met. If options remain unexercised after a period of 7 
years from the date of grant, the options expire. Option expiry periods may be extended at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

Details of the share options outstanding during the financial year are as follows:
2015 2014

Number of
Weighted 

average Number of
Weighted 

average

share options exercise price share options exercise price

US$ US$

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year 56,706,333 47c 79,047,962 48c
Granted during the financial year - - 2,000,000 19c
Exercised during the financial year - - - -
Expired/lapsed during the financial year (10,616,667) 54c (24,341,629) 46c
Outstanding at the end of the financial year 46,089,666 45c 56,706,333 47c

Exercisable at the end of the year 40,914,653 38,864,661

No share options were issued or exercised during the financial year. The options outstanding at the end of the financial year have 
exercise prices which range from US$0.14 to US$0.78 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.4 years (2014: 3.5 years). 

In 2014, options were granted on 20 May. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates is US$0.2 
million. 
	
The fair values were calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The inputs into the calculation in 2014 were as follows:

2014

Weighted average share price US$0.19
Weighted average exercise price  US$0.19
Expected volatility  51%
Expected life (years) 7
 Risk free rate  3%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous year as this is 
deemed the most reliable indicator of the volatility of the Company’s share price. 

During the financial year the Group recognised a share-based payment credit of US$0.9 million (2014: US$1.3 million expense) due to 
the number of share options which lapsed in the financial year. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Kenmare Incentive Plan (“KIP”)
The Company has an incentive plan under which annual awards have a cash element and a separate share element. Both the cash 
element and the share element are based on a number of in-year performance targets. Based on the level of achievement against these 
targets, the cash element is paid shortly after the end of the relevant year. The share element vests after a further three years with part 
of the shares subject to a further two year holding period. The share element is subject to performance vesting conditions. The value 
of the shares is measured at fair value at the date of grant based on the Company’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and 
adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period. 

As at 31 December 2015, a provision for the 2015 KIP award of 22,306,824 shares (2014: 3,294,553 shares) was created. 6,692,047 
of these shares represent the cash element of the 2015 KIP award. The estimated fair value of these shares is US$0.1 million (2014: 
US$0.2 million). In 2014, 6,875,622 shares were granted to Directors as an initial KIP award. The estimated fair value of these shares 
awarded is US$0.5 million. 

The estimated fair values of the awards are calculated using a Monte Carlo pricing model. The inputs into the calculations were as 
follows:	

2015 award 2014 award Initial award

Date of grant
31 December 

2015
31 December 

2014
21 October 

2014

Share price at date of grant £0.0046 £0.0324 £0.0739
Company’s share price volatility 71% 56% 55%
FTSE 250 volatility 12% 13% 27%
FTSE Mining Index volatility	 28% 25% 44%
Expected life 3 years 3 years 3 years
Risk free rate 0.95% 0.77% 1.02%
FTSE 250 correlation 17% 31% 22%
FTSE Mining correlation 14% 32% 33%

In order to estimate the value of the 2015 and 2014 award a financial year end valuation date of 31 December 2015 and 2014 was 
used. The expected volatility of the Company’s share price is calculated over the prior three year period, commensurate with the 
expected life of the awards. The comparator group constituents and indices are calculated over their individual volatilities using total 
shareholder return (“TSR”) data for each company over a three year period. The share award have a performance period of three years, 
so this is the assumption for expected life. The risk free rate assumption is based on a three year zero coupon UK government bond 
yield. 

During the financial year, the Group recognised a share-based payment expense of US$0.2 million (2014: US$0.05 million) as a result 
the above awards.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
GROUP
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below in aggregate for each of the 
categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 

 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,047 2,516
Long-term employee benefits - -
Post-employment benefits 131 151
Compensation on retirement - -
Share-based payments - 74
Total benefits 2,178 2,741

In addition, during 2015, US$0.3 million of fees were paid to Lemna Limited, a company connected with Mr. J. Ensall, for services 
provided by him. Mr. J. Ensall is not a director or shareholder of Lemna Limited. 

COMPANY
Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited and Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited, the Project Companies, are wholly 
owned subsidiary undertakings of Congolone Heavy Minerals Limited, which in turn is a subsidiary undertaking of Kenmare Resources 
plc. During the financial year, funding for the Moma Titanium Minerals Mine was provided to the Project Companies by Congolone 
Heavy Minerals Limited. At the year end the amount due to Congolone Heavy Minerals Limited from the Project Companies was 
US$665.8 million (2014: US$681.3 million). 

Under the terms of a management services agreement with the Company, management services costing US$8.4 million (2014: US$7.6 
million) were provided during the financial year to the Project Companies. 

36. EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
On 29 April 2015, the Group entered into an amended project loan agreement (“the April 2015 Amendment”) with the Lender Group, 
the details of which are set out in Note 23. A condition of the April 2015 Amendment was a requirement on the Group to deliver  to, and 
agree with, Lenders a material deleveraging plan by 31 January 2016. A deleveraging plan was delivered to Lenders by this deadline, 
but was not agreed by the Lenders by the deadline, resulting in an event of default. The Lenders have however continued to work with 
the Group on the execution of a deleveraging plan, details of which are set out in Note 1 and Note 23.
 
Also after the year end, Kenmare entered into a conditional subscription and relationship agreement with King Ally Holdings Limited 
(“King Ally”), a chemicals trading company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, in respect of a proposed investment by King Ally in 
Kenmare. This proposed investment is in respect of US$100 million and is on the basis that King Ally would hold not more than 29.9% 
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company following the completion of the capital restructuring of the Group.

37. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 29 April 2016.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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SIZE OF HOLDINGS No. of Shareholders No. of Shares Held

1 - 1,000 971 658,602

1,001 - 5,000 1,941 5,505,138

5,001 - 25,000 1,695 20,207,210

25,001 - 100,000 606 30,707,963

100,001 - 250,000 169 28,384,167

250,001 - 500,000 65 23,115,846

500,001 - 750,000 38 23,147,066

over 750,000 154 2,650,179,511

Total 5,639 2,781,905,503

GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDINGS No. of Shareholders No. of Shares Held

Republic of Ireland 2,162 98,182,244

Northern Ireland & Great Britain 3,364 2,644,988,062

Other 113 38,735,197

Total 5,639 2,781,905,503

Shareholder Profile 
Based on the Register as at 25 April 2016
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